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For Myron Rushetzky, whose Post Nation captures the paper’s spirit






INTRODUCTION

Editorial meetings at the New York Post could be raucous, testy, entertaining, politically incorrect, toadying, tense, or even somber, depending on the participants and the nature of the news on a given day. By the early days of the twenty-first century, Rupert Murdoch rarely attended the meetings anymore, but as several of the Post’s top editors made their way into the conference room on the tenth floor of 1211 Sixth Avenue in April 2001, there he was, jowly and dour, for the second day in a row. The tabloid’s editor, Xana Antunes, sat at the head of a long table, and Murdoch occupied the seat to her immediate right. Antunes represented a sea change at the paper. She had joined the Post in 1995 as the deputy business editor and had so impressed her bosses with the buzzy section she produced—a section that was of prime importance to the man sitting next to her—that in 1999 she was promoted to the top job, the first woman to hold the position during the years that Murdoch had owned the paper. The Post was the foundation of Murdoch’s American media empire, and though another of his properties, Fox News, reached millions more people (and unlike the Post, was immensely profitable), the tabloid remained important to him. As Antunes began going through a list of planned stories, he demonstrated in chilling fashion just how important.

Murdoch began to pepper Antunes with questions: Why aren’t you doing this? Why haven’t you planned for that? I don’t see any mention of this, which is really important. It’s not even part of your plan.

“You could tell he was deeply unhappy,” says Gregg Birnbaum, who was the Post’s political editor then, and present at the meeting. “It was very clear that this was an intentional move.”

Antunes looked surprised by Murdoch’s inquisition and offered up a polite defense. “We’re definitely planning on covering that, Mr. Murdoch,” Birnbaum remembers her saying. “Her office was just fifty feet away. If he had issues, he could have raised them privately with her. But he was sending a message to the entire staff, that he had lost confidence in Xana.”

The other editors sat in silence. “It was very painful to me, and I’m sure the other editors, to watch her be eviscerated like that. And she was all alone. Nobody could help in that circumstance. It was a conversation only between her and Rupert.” Antunes was forced out soon after that meeting.

Rupert Murdoch is a newspaperman at heart, but that heart can be inhospitably cold. Wayne Darwen, an assistant managing editor at the Post in the 1980s, and later a producer at what was essentially the TV version of the tabloid, A Current Affair, admiringly describes Murdoch as “the most intimidating presence I’ve ever encountered,” a man “with a good measure of ruthlessness, who does not give a fuck what anyone says or thinks, who’s not intimidated by anybody—politicians, prime ministers, or presidents. People often say he’s political, but the bottom line is, his god is his business. And nothing gets in the way of business.”

When Murdoch took full control of the Post at the beginning of 1977, he refashioned the paper in his own image—an approach to journalism best characterized by Adam Scull, a photographer for the Post in the late 1970s and ’80s: “We’re the New York Post. Fuck you and your rules. We make our own rules.”

Though the tabloid’s weekday print and digital circulation of just over 510,000 is a fraction of Murdoch’s right-wing cable TV behemoth, Fox News (average daily viewership: over 2 million in prime time in the first quarter of 2024), and it does not possess the global reach of the conservative Wall Street Journal, the Post is Murdoch’s pugnacious street brawler devoted to settling scores, kneecapping the self-important, exposing hypocrisy, and bedeviling liberal politicians whose platforms don’t jibe with his agenda. As onetime Gambino crime family underboss Sammy “The Bull” Gravano says, the Post has “balls.”

A staff of rogues, reprobates, freaks, geeks, secret geniuses—many of them with Australian or British accents—and a smattering of organized crime figures pursued that agenda in the final decades of the twentieth century, creating the tabloid’s multiple daily editions in a dingy, smoke-filled, cigarette butt—and coffee cup–strewn newsroom at 210 South Street, situated on a desolate strip beneath the FDR Drive and between the Manhattan and Brooklyn bridges. By definition half the size of a broadsheet like the New York Times, a tabloid typically prioritizes crime, sex, scandal, sports, and gossip. In that regard, the Post is typical. But compared to other American newspapers, it is anything but.

Newsrooms depicted in serious films about journalism like All the President’s Men and Spotlight portray reporters and editors as stone-faced, conscience-stricken men and women; shirtsleeves rolled, ties and hair askew, pounding their fists on conference tables and arguing passionately about getting the facts right. The Post during the South Street years was more like Fear and Loathing in Las Vegas: one editor wore devil horns and sent panties to female staffers through interoffice mail. A brilliant headline writer strode through the office—and atop newsroom desks—barefoot, chucking trash cans across the newsroom when he was angry, muttering, “The revolution is coming.” The same man engaged in tumultuous and sometimes violent affairs with female staffers. Fistfights broke out over stories. Alcohol flowed openly, and cocaine dealing almost resulted in a police raid of the newsroom. Sex took place in the building’s stairwells, vacant offices, and at bars (in full view of colleagues and other patrons). A Christmas party became so debauched, Murdoch moved it to the social hall of a Catholic church the following year. Reporters and photographers broke into apartments to record the lairs of killers and snuck into hospitals and sanitariums to interview crime victims. The pied piper of this nervy crew, Australian tabloid legend Steve Dunleavy, impersonated a grief counselor to get an exclusive from the mother of the final victim of serial killer David Berkowitz (the “Son of Sam”) and may have had an affair with her. A sports reporter was slammed headfirst into a locker by a New York Jets quarterback he had enraged with his columns. Mobbed-up employees ran gambling operations; one was murdered, and a raid by the district attorney’s office led to charges of loan sharking, illegal gun sales, and extortion. Reporters’ stories were rewritten, sometimes with invented quotes, to match clever headlines ginned up earlier in the day, or to fit the paper’s political bent. The Post was not a newspaper of record. Among its reporters and editors, it was called, only half-jokingly, “the paper of wreckage.”

The tabloid’s angry, in-your-face tone expresses a viewpoint long thought characteristic of New York, particularly during the city’s near bankruptcy in the 1970s and its recession and crack-fueled decline in the 1990s. But in the wake of the COVID pandemic, the migration and homeless crises, the never-ending conflicts over reproductive rights and gun ownership, and the debates over “wokeness,” cancel culture, and affirmative action, that type of anger has spread more broadly throughout the country. Fingers are often pointed at Fox News and Donald Trump’s presidency as prime catalysts of this national divisiveness, but neither would have attained the power and influence they wield today without the New York Post. Whether you admire or despise Murdoch and Trump, the Post gave them both national standing. Murdoch used his to build a multimedia empire through which he seeded an alarmist tabloid sensibility that is now found on even staunchly liberal media ventures like MSNBC.

Working at the Post was never boring, and many staffers who hustled through its city room—even some who were fired or lost their jobs when Murdoch broke the Newspaper Guild in 1993—recall their time there as among the most exciting and significant of their careers.

There’s this, too. Since the mid-1970s, when Murdoch bought the Post, the paper published—and continues to publish—plenty of insightful, hard-hitting journalism by reporters and editors whose own ethical compasses enabled them to learn from the Fleet Street–inspired circus taking place around them without succumbing to it. Many of its reporters have gone on to stellar careers at more conventional journalistic outlets, and some—such as the New York Times’ Maggie Haberman, Washington Post reporter Devlin Barrett, and Randy Smith, formerly of the Wall Street Journal—have been part of groups that won Pulitzer Prizes. While critics of the paper are loath to admit it, the Post excels in many areas: crime coverage, state and local politics, business reporting, gossip, and sports. Ingenuity, intrepidness, and being first with a story were seared into the brains of those who worked there—occasionally through screaming, yelling, and humiliation. If a rival had already broken a story, the objective became finding a new angle that would hijack the news cycle.

The paper’s politics, which grew increasingly incendiary (some would say bonkers) with the election of Donald Trump, have tended to eclipse the fact that there was a Post before Rupert Murdoch owned it, and that it was not always a tabloid or editorially right-wing. It is, in fact, the oldest continuously published daily newspaper in the country, founded in 1801 by Alexander Hamilton, the revolutionary and Founding Father, who, in 2015, ascended to pop cultural stardom in Lin-Manuel Miranda’s hip-hop musical Hamilton.

Hamilton might not have approved of much of what appears in Murdoch’s New York Post, but he would have understood the impetus for its never-be-boring tone and point of view. “Has it not been found,” Hamilton asked in Number 6 of the Federalist Papers, that man’s “momentary passions” have a “more active and imperious control over human conduct than general or remote considerations of policy, utility or justice?” In other words, doesn’t a headline like HEADLESS BODY IN TOPLESS BAR—arguably the paper’s most memorable—have a more visceral appeal than, say, SENATE APPROVES BUDGET BILL?

The Post’s early years would have made great fodder for the paper it has become. Its first editor, William Coleman, killed someone in a duel not long before Aaron Burr killed Hamilton. An angry story subject later thrashed Coleman so badly he never fully recovered. But as the nineteenth century took hold, the paper’s politics shifted from its early conservatism to more socially progressive views, particularly under editor William Cullen Bryant.

Mostly remembered today as a poet and the namesake of Bryant Park in midtown Manhattan, Bryant wielded tremendous influence in his fifty years at what was then known as the Evening Post. An early supporter of Abraham Lincoln, Bryant was a dedicated abolitionist and an advocate for organized labor whose reach extended far beyond the city’s borders. Other liberal editors would follow, though the Post’s politics shifted from left to right and back in the decades to come, depending on who owned the paper at a given time.

In 1939, the Post settled into a lengthy liberal period when Dorothy Schiff came into the picture. Though the Schiff Post paid attention to crime, celebrities, and other tabloid staples, it also featured high-minded liberal columnists like Max Lerner and Murray Kempton. Born in New York City in 1903, just over a hundred years after the Post was founded, Schiff was a granddaughter of Jacob Schiff, a powerful banker and leading figure in New York’s German Jewish aristocracy. Her grandfather observed Jewish traditions and supported Jewish causes, but Dorothy’s upbringing was more secular. As a result, she had conflicted feelings about her Jewish heritage. Still, the flavor and character of the Post when she owned it led one editor to describe it as the Jewish mother of newspapers: many of its writers and editors were Jewish; its editorials leaned left; news out of Israel received major play, as did stories about Jewish celebrities like Leonard Bernstein and Saul Bellow; and the Post’s food pages, particularly in the run-up to holidays, were stuffed with recipes for Jewish specialties and ads for Jewish products—or products eager to attract a Jewish audience. (“Guess who’s coming to Seder!” proclaimed an ad in 1968. “Canada Dry.”) Not surprisingly, most of the Post’s readers were Jewish.

As Schiff’s first marriage was ending in 1931, an affair with Max Aitken, better known as Lord Beaverbrook, the British press magnate, stimulated her interest in newspapers and politics. Schiff purchased the money-losing Post in 1939 in large part to save from extinction an important supporter of the Democratic Party. Her second husband, George Backer, became the paper’s publisher, while Schiff eventually granted herself the titles of vice president and treasurer. Neither their working relationship nor their marriage lasted. Ted Thackrey took over as editor and replaced Backer as Schiff’s husband, but that marriage crumbled, too, as would, eventually, Schiff’s fourth marriage, to Rudolf Sonneborn, who was not a newspaperman.

The journalistic golden age of Schiff’s thirty-seven-year ownership of the Post took place in the 1950s, when progressive icon James Wechsler ran the paper and oversaw groundbreaking investigations of FBI director J. Edgar Hoover, Senator Joseph McCarthy, urban developer Robert Moses, powerful gossip columnist Walter Winchell, and others. (The Schiff/Wechsler Post plays a prominent role in The Power Broker, Robert Caro’s biography of Moses.)

That era ended in 1961 when Schiff demoted Wechsler, who had been the paper’s head editor, to running only the editorial page and writing a column. Schiff then gave Paul Sann, the paper’s swaggering foul-mouthed executive editor, complete control of the newsroom, and in 1962, declared herself editor in chief. From that point on, Schiff had more influence over the Post’s content. In a scathing 1975 essay for Esquire, Nora Ephron, who worked at the Post for five years beginning in 1963 (and years later would trade journalism for filmmaking), wrote that after replacing Wechsler with Sann, Schiff “had changed the focus of the paper from hard-hitting, investigative, and liberal to frothy, gossipy, and woman oriented.”

Schiff barely had time to put her imprint on the paper before the New York Typographical Union went on strike in December 1962, protesting low wages and the advent of automated printing presses. The walkout lasted for 114 days and led the Hearst Corporation to fold its tabloid, the New York Daily Mirror. Given the Post’s anemic circulation at the time, it almost certainly would have closed, too, but perturbed by what she viewed as a lack of respect for the Post (and for her) from the other publishers, all men, Schiff made the decision to leave the Publishers Association of New York City during the strike and agree to abide by whatever agreement was eventually brokered. (Murdoch would employ a similar winning strategy in 1978.) Though the members of the Publishers Association competed in selling newspapers, they traditionally presented a united front in dealing with the unions. While other papers sat on the sidelines, the Post returned to newsstands. When the World Journal Tribune, a merger of three New York papers forced by another strike, ceased publication in 1967, the Post became the city’s only afternoon newspaper and its circulation increased by more than fifty percent. But Schiff did not drop the penny-pinching ways she had adopted when competition was fierce. She continued to cut resources, eliminated jobs where she could, and paid staff as little as possible. Landmark stories that would come to define the 1960s and ’70s were passed over or relegated to wire copy because Schiff refused to loosen her purse strings.

Yet storied journalists, including Pete Hamill and Jimmy Breslin, continued to work there in the 1960s. It wasn’t that the afternoon daily lost lots of money, but, after a slow year or two, Schiff feared it might. She was heir to a banking fortune, but even banking fortunes can run dry. Television was whittling away the Post’s circulation, as was an exodus of readers to the suburbs. The paper’s late-sixties circulation high—about 700,000—had slipped to 500,000 by the mid-1970s. The New York Daily News, the Post’s primary competition and a morning paper, had also seen its numbers drop, but at two million papers a day it still outsold the Post by a wide margin. The Post’s advertising lineage had declined as well.

Like Dorothy Schiff, Keith Rupert Murdoch grew up privileged, but the early days of his newspaper career were more tumultuous. His father, a powerful figure in Australian media, died in 1952, when Murdoch was twenty-one and a student at Oxford. Murdoch flirted with socialism in his student years, but left-wing politics ultimately did not correspond to his business ambitions. After graduating the following year, and briefly working at a London paper, the Daily Express (owned, coincidentally, by Dorothy Schiff’s mentor, Lord Beaverbrook), he returned to Australia to take over the family media business—immediately fending off competitors eager to see him fail before he’d even begun. Though forced to sell some assets, Murdoch inherited a controlling interest in News Limited, a small concern at the time, which he expanded with acquisitions. Eventually his acquisitive nature took him to England, where in 1969 he bought The Sun, then a high-minded London broadsheet struggling to stay alive. In a preview of his takeover of the New York Post, Murdoch turned The Sun into a tabloid and doused it with his signature cocktail of mayhem, scandal, and sex, exemplified by its topless Page 3 girls. The Sun’s circulation soared, leaving the competition aghast at how precisely—and quickly—Murdoch had figured out what the people wanted.

His businesses in the United Kingdom and Australia would continue to expand—in some cases, explode—in the decades to come, but he would not be content until he had made it in America.

In 1973, Murdoch bought two papers in Texas, the San Antonio News and the Express, which shared a newsroom and printing press. He turned the former into a broadsheet with a tabloid attitude (and later merged the two papers). The News achieved national attention with the headline KILLER BEES MOVE NORTH, which would inspire a series of Saturday Night Live skits. In 1974, he started a supermarket tabloid, the National Star, to compete with the National Enquirer. Those were baby steps. One paper in Texas and a supermarket tabloid did not mean real power. Murdoch set his sights on America’s media capital, New York, and soon determined that the fading Post was ripe for the plucking.

Murdoch’s New York Post was hardly the first American daily to lure readers with exaggerated stories, bold graphics, and lurid headlines—in the late nineteenth century, the battle between Joseph Pulitzer’s New York World and William Randolph Hearst’s New York Journal birthed the term “yellow journalism”—but as the twentieth century reached its final quarter, most daily newspapers in cities across the United States—even the tabloids—projected a serious tone, partly because of Watergate. Everyone wanted to be Woodward and Bernstein.

Not Murdoch. Over the four-plus decades that he has owned the tabloid—interrupted by a five-year hiatus during which the paper was owned by a real estate developer and later briefly operated by two men who would serve prison sentences—the paper’s bold red-and-black logo and brazen, darkly comic front-page headlines and photos have become instantly recognizable emblems of outrage, sensational crime, and scandal. And the name of its gossip column, Page Six, remains the top trademark of its craft, akin to Chanel or Prada, even though the web and social media have stolen much of its thunder. (In January 2024, the paper launched a Page Six video studio at its midtown offices—part of its efforts to establish the gossip trademark as a multiplatform, standalone brand.) The Post’s coverage can be schizophrenic—aimed at both blue- and white-collar readers, through a mix of stories about outer borough crime, celebrity escapism, sports, and “rich people inconvenienced,” as one former reporter put it. The tabloid has inspired artists Andy Warhol and Keith Haring, novelist Tom Wolfe’s The Bonfire of the Vanities, and Public Enemy’s rap song “A Letter to the New York Post,” as well as numerous film and TV scenes, and internet memes.

According to the New York Times, President Joe Biden in 2021 called Rupert Murdoch “the most dangerous man in the world.” That same year, Robert Thomson, CEO of the Post’s parent company, News Corp, revealed on a call with analysts that, after losing tens of millions of dollars for decades, the paper had reported the “first profit in modern times, at the very least.” The announcement was met with disbelief in the media world, but whether the tabloid is profitable, and whether it will outlive Rupert Murdoch, who in 2023 stepped down as chairman of News Corp in favor of his son Lachlan, is beside the point. His Post shoved its way into a clubby, unwelcoming media landscape, and after establishing itself as a new—some would say virulent—strain of journalism and political thought, instigated a paradigm shift among its competitors. The way news and culture are covered, packaged, and presented by the American media today is the result of that shift. The pages that follow will show—through the words and anecdotes of those who were there—how Murdoch, his editors, and his reporters managed such an extraordinary feat.






METHODOLOGY AND GLOSSARY

To compile this unauthorized portrait of the Post, we interviewed more than 240 former and current staffers, story subjects, competitors, and astute observers of the media who have watched the paper evolve from the last years of Dorothy Schiff’s ownership through current times. “We” are two former Post employees: Susan Mulcahy worked on Page Six from 1978 to 1985, including three years as editor, before moving to New York Newsday to write a rival column. She has written for the New Yorker and the New York Times and published three books, including a memoir about the Post. She also created and led the entertainment division at Starwave, Microsoft co-founder Paul Allen’s early internet venture; and is responsible for reviving the recordings of Ruth Draper, the great monologue artist, whose biography she is writing. Frank DiGiacomo worked as a Page Six freelancer in the late 1980s and became an editor of the column from 1991 to 1993. He has since worked as a writer and editor, covering media and the entertainment business, for Vanity Fair, the Hollywood Reporter, the New York Observer, and the New York Daily News, among others. He is currently an executive editor at Billboard.

Because there are so many stories about the New York Post, we could have continued our research indefinitely. For this book, we used the memories shared by our interview subjects, as well as our own as former editors at the paper, to highlight the people and the stories that best illustrate what the New York Post once was, what it has become, and why it is so significant.

This oral history, encompassing nearly fifty years at the paper beginning in the mid-1970s, should not be considered comprehensive. Many significant news events and newsworthy figures from that time span do not appear in these pages, nor does every development in Rupert Murdoch’s empire. Given the broad scope and reach of his businesses, that would be a very different book—one that in our estimation has already been attempted multiple times. The developments we have touched on are those that spread the Post’s brand of journalism throughout American media.

When memories shared in this book involved a story that appeared in the Post, we made every effort to locate it and compare the reporting to what we had been told. That was not always possible, however, because, at the height of Murdoch’s initial ownership of the paper, eight editions appeared every day, and stories were often updated or replaced from one edition to another. But just one, the final edition, can be found on microfilm at the New York Public Library, one of the few repositories for copies of the paper from the pre-digital era. (The Post microfilm has been digitized, but as we conducted our research, the database that carries it was not widely available.) Also, some local editions of the Post, targeted at specific boroughs, were short-lived and not captured on microfilm.

In the case of New York Post employees, some of whom held many different jobs over the years, we have identified them by only their most senior or recognizable positions, along with the total number of years they worked full-time at the paper. We have identified outsiders—those who did not work at the Post—by their most relevant credit. In the case of a competitor who worked for several different news outlets, for example, a position at the New York Daily News—the Post’s biggest rival—would be the label of choice. The first time someone appears in a chapter, his or her identifying information is repeated.

The interviews for this book were conducted between 2020 and 2024, with some exceptions; in 2004, Frank DiGiacomo compiled an oral history of Page Six for Vanity Fair. A small portion of the interviews excerpted here derive from that research, including conversations with people who have died in the interim (James Brady, Claudia Cohen, Steve Dunleavy, Sy Presten, and Bobby Zarem). Most of the more recent interviews were conducted by phone or Zoom, some in person, and a few through email. Excerpts of interviews have been edited for length and clarity. Also, Jane Perlez, who worked at the Post during the Dorothy Schiff era and went on to a long career at the New York Times, allowed us to quote from notes she took during the transition to Murdoch’s ownership.

Anyone who has worked at a newspaper has tales to tell, but we focused on the editorial process. We spoke to a few people in other areas, including circulation and the composing room, but the bulk of our interviews involved the creation of stories in the Post, which is how the Murdoch ethos is disseminated. We located many of our interview subjects through Post Nation, a large email community that keeps former staffers informed of the milestones and deaths of past colleagues, created and maintained by Myron Rushetzky, a former head city desk assistant at the Post. Most interview subjects were happy to talk about their experiences, but we could not interview everyone, and not everyone would speak to us: some current staffers feared for their jobs; a number of ex–Post employees signed NDAs that preclude them from discussing the paper; and still others decided to keep their stories to themselves. We hope they see their experience reflected in the narrative nonetheless. We were fortunate to capture the voices of a number of former Post employees who have since passed away: Dave Banks, Guy Hawtin, Steve Hoffenberg, Warren Hoge, Ray Kerrison, Marsha Kranes, Dominick Marrano, Tim McDarrah, and Stephen Silverman. Also, Sally Kempton, whose father, Murray, was an important columnist at the Post.

Finally, the newspaper business has its own language. Some terms that originated in the era of lead type and Linotype operators are still in use today, though many have been forgotten. Here is a brief glossary:


	Agate:

	The smallest type size that can be printed legibly on newsprint. It is commonly used for index boxes, statistical data, and legal and death notices.

	Book:

	Three pieces of paper, separated by carbon and bound at the top, that allowed a writer to create an original and two duplicates for different editorial and production needs.

	Cold type:

	The composition process that eliminated the use of hot metal and introduced computerization to newspaper printing.

	Composing room:

	The room where typesetting is done.

	Compositor:

	The person who arranges type into pages.

	Graf:

	Paragraph.

	Hed:

	Journalism jargon for a headline.

	Hot type:

	A typesetting process used by newspapers from the late nineteenth century until the mid- to late twentieth century that involved injecting molten metal, usually lead, into molds that were used to press ink onto paper in order to produce newsprint. When computers were introduced, it was said the newspapers had switched to cold type.

	Lede:

	The first sentence or paragraph in a news story, which is meant to grab the reader’s attention and provide a basic outline for what follows. The spelling came about as a way of preventing confusion with the lead used in the days of hot type.

	Linotype:

	Refers to the Linotype machine, used to set type in the hot-type era.

	Lobster shift:

	A reference to a newspaper’s overnight shift. Its origins are unclear. Some say it stems from the British word “lob,” slang for a stupid or naive person, or in the realm of the newsroom, a neophyte, who was often assigned to work the overnight hours while learning the ropes. Others say it is so named because lobster fishermen work at night. At times, reporters and editors who have run afoul of their superiors might be assigned to lobster as punishment or to avoid further conflict. But at an afternoon paper, like the Post when Murdoch first acquired it, it was the shift during which the next day’s paper was assembled and therefore, arguably, the most important.

	Makeup:

	To arrange articles, photos, and ads on a page prior to printing, and in some cases, cut to fit the allotted space.

	Pagination:

	Digital process of laying out newspaper pages.

	Paste up:

	The pre-digital method for laying out a publication’s pages.

	Rim:

	A horseshoe-shaped desk around which copy editors sat, writing headlines and editing copy. The chief copy editor, who sat inside the horseshoe, a.k.a “the slot,” was known as the slot man.

	Slug:

	A short identifying title—as brief as a single word—given to an article during the editorial process, for tracking purposes. The slug can also contain code words that, for example, would indicate the edition in which the story is running, or an updated or corrected article.

	Spike:

	Stories or wire copy that would not appear in the paper would be impaled on a metal spike that sat on the news or copy desk. “Spiked” remains a figurative term for killing copy.

	Stereotype (also known as a stereoplate or simply stereo):

	A thin piece of curvable metal, cast from the mold of composed type. The stereo was clipped around the rotating cylinder of a printing press and sped up the printing process significantly. Multiple plates could be created from one typesetting—that’s why they were called stereos—enabling multiple printing presses to run simultaneously.

	
Takeout:

	An in-depth article or series of articles, usually with sidebars and graphics.

	Wood:

	A tabloid’s front-page headline. In the pre-computer era, the type font in lead only went up to a certain point size, therefore the larger page-one heds had to be made using wooden type.

	-30-:

	Used by reporters to indicate the end of a story. Its origins are not entirely clear, though it may be connected to the days of telegraph transmission.
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PART I: 1976–1980 INVASION







1 GOODBYE, DOLLY Schiff Gives Up the Ship


As the 1970s passed their midpoint, two formidable women were running newspapers in America’s centers of power, but their fortunes were diverging. Katharine Graham, the publisher of the Washington Post, was lionized as a First Amendment hero because of her paper’s investigation of the Watergate cover-up, which led to President Richard Nixon’s resignation and inspired the bestselling book All the President’s Men by Washington Post journalists Bob Woodward and Carl Bernstein (later a hit film). Dorothy Schiff, the owner, publisher, and editor in chief of the New York Post, was grappling with financial losses at the tabloid she had owned for thirty-seven years, along with criticism that the paper’s once hard-hitting journalism had given way to fluff.

In the 1950s, during what was widely considered the paper’s twentieth-century heyday, Schiff’s New York Post epitomized the kind of investigative journalism that the Washington Post was being lauded for two decades later, and Schiff herself was not afraid to wield her political clout. In the New York gubernatorial race of 1958, the paper initially endorsed the incumbent, Averell Harriman, a Democrat and a power broker with whom Schiff years earlier had had a “brief flirtation,” according to Schiff biographer Marilyn Nissenson. But, the week before the election, Harriman made remarks that Schiff felt unfairly labeled his Republican opponent, Nelson Rockefeller, as anti-Israel. Schiff, who had been ambivalent about the candidates despite the Post’s endorsement of Harriman, pulled a front-page story (HEIRESS TRIES SUICIDE) and insisted her editors run an appeal she had written in favor of Rockefeller. Her action may have helped push him to victory in the race for governor.

By 1976, however, the biggest question being asked about Schiff’s political ties was whether she had slept with President Franklin Delano Roosevelt, as was intimated in an authorized Schiff biography published that year.

The editors and reporters who worked for Schiff knew that she had a near obsession with keeping costs low, but they did not know that the Post was losing money for the first time in almost three decades. Schiff had been talking about selling the paper for years. Many felt that the time had arrived.

WARREN HOGE, metropolitan editor, 1966–1976: No one called her Dolly. She was always Mrs. Schiff, this grande dame living on East 64th Street—by the way, in the same building where Bernie Madoff eventually lived, 133 East 64th Street, on the corner of Lexington Avenue. Mrs. Schiff lived in a penthouse and so did he.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ, reporter, 1963–1978: It was so hypocritical of her to be known as Mrs. Dorothy Schiff. She was never Mrs. Schiff. She was Miss Schiff, married [four] times but took the privilege of calling herself Mrs. Schiff.

CALVIN TRILLIN, staff writer, The New Yorker: I never met Mrs. Schiff, but she was noted for keeping her name no matter who she was married to. Somebody told me she was known as the “Don’t-give-up-the-Schiff Schiff.”

ANDY SOLTIS, rewrite, editor, 1967–2014: She was known in those days as “The Lady Upstairs.”

TONY SCHWARTZ, gossip columnist, 1976–1977: Her office on South Street was this giant room, decorated like a living room, with fluffy pillows and a couch. And her dog was there.

JOYCE WADLER, feature writer, 1974–1977: She had a nude portrait in her office. Whether or not it was her, how many publishers have a nude resembling themselves hanging in the office?

DAVID ROSENTHAL, reporter, desk editor, 1974–1977: There was apparently some sort of very vague threat that Cuban freedom fighters, anti-Castro, were going to target the Post building from across the East River, or something like that. Whatever was the immediate cause, Dolly put in windows, at least on her floor facing the East River, that by all accounts were bulletproof.

TONY MANCINI, reporter, 1958–1978: Whenever she appeared in the newsroom, she would be followed by her chauffeur [Everette Lawson], carrying her toy dog. It was like an event when she arrived.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: Everette was this ubiquitous personality in the building. It sounds racist, but he looked a bit like a character out of Amos ’n’ Andy. He was so loyal to her. It seemed even odd to me in those days that a woman of obvious wealth and privilege would have this Black chauffeur. Plus, she made a point of letting everybody know that she had a Black chauffeur. I think she did that because Mrs. Schiff wanted to own the New York Post, but she did not want to be identified with the Post in some ways—that everything on the floors below her was sort of the great unwashed.

RICHARD GOODING, metropolitan editor, 1976–1993: The first day I came to work at 210 South Street, the doors to the second elevator were open. I walked in and there were two people in the elevator, Dolly Schiff, who was holding a little dog, and a guy who was clearly her chauffeur. I got off on the fourth floor. I swear, the second I got into the newsroom, somebody said to me, “You’re wanted in [Executive Editor] Paul Sann’s office.” I got to Paul’s office, and he said, “The first rule of work at the New York Post is you do not ride the elevator with Dolly Schiff. Nobody rides the elevator with Dolly Schiff, except her chauffeur.” She must have gotten to her office, immediately called downstairs, and said, “Who was the tall, skinny bearded hippie in the elevator with me? This is not acceptable.” [Though her staff was not aware of it, Schiff had a phobia of elevators.]

MARSHA KRANES, rewrite, editor, 1974–2005: The Post didn’t pay for our Christmas party then. We all chipped in for it. We used to have a hot dog wagon or something, and we’d set up a little bar. As it was being prepared, she would come in with her mink coat over her shoulders, or maybe it was ermine. Her secretary and Everette accompanied her. One carried a bottle of scotch or some other liquor, and the other carried her little dog, Suzy Q. As she neared the part of the room where people were gathered, she lifted her shoulders so her coat would fall off. She knew somebody would dive and catch it. Remember the TV series Lou Grant, where the owner of the paper was a very aristocratic woman? [Mrs. Pynchon, played by Nancy Marchand, who later portrayed Tony Soprano’s mother.] She reminded me of Dorothy Schiff. [The character was said to have been partly based on Schiff.] So did Meryl Streep in The Devil Wears Prada.

AIDA ALVAREZ, reporter, 1973–1977: During my four years at the Post, the one and only time that I saw Mrs. Schiff in the newsroom, she told a story about how she wore her fur coat to Harlem. She said, “That’s what the people in Harlem expect of me.” I remember thinking: it’s probably kind of a sign of respect for people, because they have an expectation. And she’s showing up as she is. She’s not dressing down to go to Harlem. I didn’t take offense to that. But I thought it was interesting that that was her insight, and that she felt compelled to tell that story.

FRANK RICH, film critic, 1975–1977: I saw almost nothing of Dolly Schiff, but after I had been working there for two or three months, [Managing Editor] Bob Spitzler tells me she knows my writing and wants to go to dinner with me. He said, “It will be the three of us.” The dinner was at Parioli Romanissimo, a notoriously, hilariously expensive Italian restaurant on the Upper East Side. I was very nervous. It was not my scene, and Spitzler, a very nice guy, said, “Don’t worry, I’ll handle everything.” I don’t remember a single thing that Schiff said, but she had a very, very long cigarette holder. I was a smoker, so I was very aware of it. She was also a chain-smoker, and every time she butted out a cigarette and put a new one in the holder, without breaking the conversation and continuing to look at me and Bob, she would flick her hand back with the cigarette holder and know, without looking back, that someone would have lit it. And they had.

JOYCE WADLER: Al Ellenberg told me about his entry interview with Dorothy Schiff, who said to him, “I understand you’re Jewish.” Al said, “Yes, I am.” She said, “I’m Jewish, too. In fact, I’m the last person in my family who’s Jewish. When I die, I’m going to be cremated and buried in a Jewish cemetery.” Jewish law says you can’t be cremated. Al said, “No, you’re not.” She said, “Yes, I am.” “No, you’re not.” “Yes, I am, because I bought the cemetery.”

TONY MANCINI: At one point, my then-wife, the mother of my daughter, was having trouble getting pregnant. I wanted a leave of absence to have a baby—you know, work at it!—and to write my first novel. But Mrs. Schiff wanted to speak to me before granting it. She wanted to know my motives, so she invited me to a tea or a lunch in her office. I told her why I wanted [the leave], and she, having had children herself, sort of sighed and said, “I don’t know why anybody would want to have children.”


In 1961, when Executive Editor Paul Sann assumed full control of the Post’s news pages from James Wechsler, Schiff became increasingly involved in what was published beyond the editorial pages. After that, the paper’s reporting became more subject to her whims, which included gossip, rent regulation, and women’s maiden names.



CLYDE HABERMAN, reporter, 1966–1977: If she liked something, you covered it. The notes would come down. Paul Sann tried to avoid saying it came from Schiff, but sometimes he slipped.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: Schiff was famous for writing memos on yellow parchment paper. I remember coming back from an interview I did for a Woman in the News feature. Paul Sann gave me one of Schiff’s yellow memos asking if [the story subject] was still dating a particular man. I said, “Why are you giving this to me now? I just came back from the interview.” He said, “Call her.” It was so embarrassing. I had to call the woman I’d just interviewed and ask her, because Dolly was interested in this man herself. It was Bishop Paul Moore, of St. John the Divine.

JOYCE WADLER: The old Post had things they held very dear, like rent control. When we went to do a Daily Close-up, Dorothy Schiff required that we always include a married woman’s maiden name, and whether the interview subject’s apartment was rent controlled or rent stabilized.

ANDY SOLTIS: Just before Mrs. Schiff sold the paper, she would invite two or three reporters at a time up to her office. One Friday afternoon, I was invited up along with Joyce Purnick and Bob Bazell, just before he quit to work for NBC. He became the chief science and health correspondent for NBC News. Our chaperone was Al Ellenberg, who I guess was there to make sure we didn’t say anything wrong. This was my first contact with Mrs. Schiff. At one point, she said, “Do you think we can find out who Deep Throat is?” The movie All the President’s Men had just come out, and she was fascinated by the identity of Woodward and Bernstein’s source. Bazell looked at me strangely, like What? This conversation went on for about ten minutes, and then Bazell said, “If we printed what we found, we’re betraying a journalist.” Mrs. Schiff just smiled. I thought that was revealing. I think she just wanted to know who this was so that she could use it for social conversation. She loved the gossip that she picked up from the city room.

JOYCE PURNICK, political reporter, 1970–1978: I don’t know if people even know what an afternoon newspaper is anymore, but it doesn’t break news so much as analyze and featurize the news that’s already been made because it doesn’t come out in the morning.

BILL BRADLEY, former New York Knick; former US senator: The Post was a strong liberal paper that I respected. I respected its editorial page. I respected its sports page. The owner was a woman, right? I felt she had an attitude toward the paper as a public service. I read it that way. So I paid attention to what was written. The quality of the writing was always excellent. The New York Times was a bigger paper, meaning they had more reporters covering more things. But for what the Post did, they did it very well.

DANNY FIELDS, former rock journalist, manager of The Ramones: It was news for Jews.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: The two greatest things Mrs. Schiff did for liberalism were: She ran Mary McGrory [Pulitzer Prize–winning syndicated columnist]. We also had the [Washington Post–Los Angeles Times News Service], which was a big, big deal, because that’s how the New York Post covered Watergate. We had the Woodward-Bernstein stories every day. Nobody else did in New York.

TONY MANCINI: Schiff’s Post was a tabloid in the classic sense. Celebrity news was high on the list and so was crime—the if-it-bleeds-it-leads kind of thing. But there was a serious side to it. It had a sterling group of columnists, including Max Lerner and Mary McGrory, who were serious pundits and mostly on the left side. And we had muckrakers like Joe Kahn and Ed Katcher, Bill Haddad, who uncovered a lot of municipal corruption.

JOYCE WADLER: We were the friend of the working class. I loved this.


In the late 1950s, Victor Navasky, who eventually become editor and publisher of The Nation, founded a satirical magazine called Monocle. In the early 1960s, Monocle published parodies of New York newspapers, including the Post. A headline suggested for the spoof of the Post circulated through word of mouth, in many different versions. It was thought to sum up the Schiff era and the paper’s liberal, pro-Jewish political perspective at the time.



CHARLIE CARILLO, reporter, columnist, 1978–1993: The joke headline about Schiff’s Post was “World Ends. Blacks and Jews Suffer Most.”

CALVIN TRILLIN: I mostly worked on Monocle’s Daily News parody, but I suggested a front-page headline for the Post to indicate the Schiff-era politics, which was “Cold Snap Hits Our Town, Jews, Negroes Suffer Most.” Victor rejected it. He said there wasn’t any story to go with it. But I thought that was part of the parody. That is all I did on what we called the New York Pest. Some of the people who worked on the parody were then hired by Mrs. Schiff: Nora Ephron, who had done a Leonard Lyons parody [Lyons wrote a gossip column], and, I think, Sidney Zion, who did a Murray Kempton parody.


As the owner of an influential media property, Dorothy Schiff hosted many VIPs, first in her penthouse office on the fifteenth floor of 75 West Street, where the Post was housed until 1970, and then in her sixth-floor suite at 210 South Street, the former headquarters of Hearst’s defunct Journal-American, a building she acquired in 1967. She would order lunch for her guests from the Post cafeteria—always, famously, a sandwich. Memories of what type of sandwich differ. According to a 1973 Gail Sheehy profile in New York magazine, Schiff divided “all the world into three sandwiches. Corned beef for Jews, tuna fish for Catholics, and roast beef for Prods.” Once Schiff’s secretary “has recorded your sandwich,” wrote Sheehy, “nothing short of religious conversion can change it.” But Nora Ephron, in her 1975 essay about Schiff in Esquire, wrote that “Everyone who had lunch with [Schiff] got a roast beef sandwich. Lyndon Johnson, Bobby Kennedy, and me, to name a few.” Pete Hamill reported that Schiff insulted Brooklyn political leader Meade Esposito by serving a meatball sandwich. And when Katharine Graham of the Washington Post paid a visit, she had what Schiff was having, a BLT.



CAROLE LEE, assistant to James Wechsler, photo syndication editor, 1963–1993: Schiff used to have these luncheons, where people like [labor leader and founder of New York’s Liberal Party] David Dubinsky and other people would come, and they all got the same exact thing: a BLT with or without mayonnaise. That was your only choice. When Dubinsky’s office called to say, “He’s Jewish and doesn’t eat pork,” they were told, “Does he want mayonnaise or not?” She wouldn’t change it for anything.

ERIC FETTMANN, associate editorial page editor, columnist, 1976–1991, 1993–2019: Dolly was a big believer in the Post cafeteria. When the political bigwigs came for lunch, like Lyndon Johnson—this was back on West Street—he was offered his choice of a tuna fish or roast beef sandwich from the cafeteria. Dolly would order and Maxie [who worked in the mailroom] was dispatched to bring it up to the sixth floor. What she didn’t know, and nobody had the heart to tell her, is that he had his own set routine. And just before he went upstairs, Maxie would eat his own lunch in the men’s room. Nobody ever remembered seeing him wash his hands.


The sandwiches Schiff served her guests were just one example of her extraordinary thriftiness, which affected the Post’s news gathering as well. It’s a trait she may have inherited from her immensely wealthy grandfather, Jacob, who saved string.



JOYCE WADLER: Dorothy Schiff was so cheap there were never quite enough chairs for the staff. The first thing I had to do when I came in in the morning was find a chair or steal one. If you wanted a notebook, there was a guy on the desk who kept them under lock and key.

WARREN HOGE: Seymour Hersh [then a freelance journalist] and David Obst, who was his best friend, had an office in the National Press Building in Washington, which is where my New York Post bureau office was [before Hoge became an editor in New York]. Hersh came to me one day and said, “We’ve uncovered this amazing thing about My Lai.” He told me about the My Lai massacre in Vietnam. Obst [then in charge of Dispatch News Service, the small news agency that released the My Lai story] offered the story to the Post. I can’t remember the amount, but it was pretty paltry. I was unable to get an agreement from the Post to publish a story that won the Pulitzer Prize that year.

CLYDE HABERMAN: They practically had to fight to send somebody to Dallas when President Kennedy was killed. I believe the same thing happened when Bobby Kennedy was killed. She just wasn’t going to spend money on essential travel. I covered Attica even though they didn’t want to spend the money to send me there. It wasn’t Bali. It wasn’t Tokyo. It was a huge story—the biggest prison uprising probably in American history, in Attica, New York. It was almost in our backyard, and they didn’t want to spend the money.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: We had a motto, which was: the New York Times has a reporter in every city in the world, a bureau in every capital—we have the telephone. This was a newspaper where you had to get permission to take the train to New Jersey to cover something.

ANDY SOLTIS: We could not take cab rides. That was absolutely forbidden. And Annie Aquilina [a head desk assistant for many years] told me that when a letter to the Post came in and there was an uncanceled stamp on it, they were supposed to steam it off to use again.

ERIC FETTMANN: Roberta Gratz told me she had a couple of sources over for dinner rather than going to a restaurant, figuring that, among other things, it would be cheaper. Her twenty-dollar expense report came back with a note from Paul Sann: “She’s going to want to know who got the extra coffee.”

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: Reimbursement denied.


Despite the low pay and limited resources that resulted from Schiff’s frugality, the paper was staffed with a strong group of editors and writers in the ’70s, many of whose names today are equated with journalistic excellence. The upper tier of editors were all men, though not all cut from the same cloth. James Wechsler remained a force at the paper, but only in the opinion section. Executive Editor Paul Sann, who had joined the Post in 1931 as a seventeen-year-old copyboy, ran news, with assistance from Managing Editor Bob Spitzler, Metropolitan Editor Warren Hoge, City Editor Andy Porte, and Al Ellenberg, an assistant managing editor. Joe Rabinovich, known as Joe Rab, oversaw features.



WARREN HOGE: Jimmy Wechsler was a genuine old lefty intellectual; Paul Sann was a real tough, funny tabloid journalist who wrote about the mob and was proud of being raised in the Bronx, and never let you forget it. Paul was very compact. He always wore cowboy boots and string ties. I don’t know why. There was nothing Western about him. He was completely urban New York. He was so different from Wechsler. When Wechsler was editor of the Post, with his columnists and all that, it wasn’t intellectual, but it was a really thoughtful paper. It was not a hard-hitting tabloid. Sann turned it into a hard-hitting tabloid.

JOE BERGER, investigative reporter, 1971–1978: Sann had a persona like Sam Spade in The Maltese Falcon. It was the way he walked around the newsroom, the way he talked—he had a kind of clipped speech—the way he smoked cigarettes. He was a very straight-shooting editor.

WARREN HOGE: Sann would go into the composing room—it’s hard to say these days, with how sensitive we’ve become—but he would go in and abuse the workers there, and they loved it. Some compositor—one of those guys with the funny hats—let’s say his name was Santarelli or something Italian, Paul would say, “You dago fuck, get out of my way.” The guy would beam, blessed by being recognized by Sann. By the way, women had no role on the composing room floor. They were terrified of going there. I can laugh about that period, but it wasn’t funny for women at all.

ANNA QUINDLEN, reporter, 1974–1977: I’m from a lace-curtain Irish background. I learned from nuns to put my hands together on my desk very early on, and to be in this atmosphere was like a dream come true. The thing I remember most about Sann was the profanity. Also, he would come up with spectacular wood headlines. The one that I clasp close to my breast always—even though I don’t know if it was an actual headline—was one about Gloria Swanson being let out of the hospital: SICK GLORIA IN TRANSIT MONDAY.

SUSAN WELCHMAN, photo editor, 1977–1979: Oh my god, [Managing Editor] Bob Spitzler was such a wonderful editor. He always wore these gorgeous scarves, and he was Ichabod Crane-y. He had long hair. He had long fingers. He was always going to the opera.

ANNA QUINDLEN: [Spitzler] was kind of high-handed. He had an urbane, almost British personal manner. He was a great foil to Paul Sann, who was like an actor playing the executive editor of a tabloid.

DICK BELSKY, metropolitan editor, 1970–1989: Everybody liked [Metro Editor] Warren Hoge. Like Spitzler, he made it look easy. He never stressed out. And he was good-looking—Mr. Cool. He dated Candice Bergen. He dated Sally Quinn [Washington Post reporter who later married that paper’s legendary editor Ben Bradlee]. We had a folder on the news desk that, if you had anything you wanted to remind yourself of for that day, you put it in there. But Warren also used the folder for personal reminders. You’d be going through, seeing “City Hall press conference at 10”; “Police chief at duh-duh-duh”; “Drinks with Candice Bergen at the Plaza at 7.”

LINDSY VAN GELDER, feature writer, 1968–1977: I thought [Features Editor] Joe Rab [Rabinovich] was a strange and troubled man. He was one of the guys who, in that era, we would have referred to as having had his genitalia snipped. Sometimes, if you asked him a question, he would point to the penthouse [Dorothy Schiff’s office]. That was all the explanation you would get. I believe he came from a family of Holocaust survivors, and he would make this creepy, bizarre reference that was a metaphor for his job. He would say, “There you are, and you’re digging your grave, and the Nazis are standing there with guns pointing at you, but as long as you have the spade in your hand, you know you’re still alive.”

WARREN HOGE: I found Joe a sad figure only because he was so bright, so good at what he did—and yet so underappreciated by the management.

MARSHA KRANES: [Assistant Managing Editor] Al Ellenberg was a genius. He really got to the point of things. You’d be at a press conference, come back and think you had everything covered. Then he’d ask you one more question that no one had thought to ask. You’d make that phone call, ask the question, and end up with the wood. He was a brilliant person, though a little erratic and crazy.

CLYDE HABERMAN: Al had every vice known to man. He womanized more than was wise, drank more than was wise, gambled more than was wise, probably did a few controlled substances more than was wise. One time I was talking to him, and I saw that he was not even looking at me. He was looking over my shoulder. I turned, and coming out of the composing room was a guy built like a refrigerator with a head on top heading in our direction. I turned to look at Ellenberg, and there’s an empty chair. Clearly, he owed this guy money. There were loan sharks or bookies of some type—I never dealt with them—who worked in the composing room.

PETER MOSES, reporter, 1984–1993: Ellenberg once told me that he could never fully trust me because I didn’t womanize, drink, or gamble.


Getting hired at the Post—which typically began with work as a copyboy or copygirl, the newspaper equivalent of a go-fer—often required knowing someone who already worked there—an uncle, a classmate, a friend of your mother. There were exceptions. One reporter was a draft dodger recently back from Canada, another had just been fired by the New York Times, and another had experience at two distinctly different publications—Screw and Seventeen.



ANNA QUINDLEN: I was being interviewed by Bob Spitzler for a summer job between my junior and senior years at Barnard in 1973. I felt like my interview was pretty disastrous. I told Spitzler he should hire me because he needed more women, and he took me to the door of his office, gestured out, and said, “More than fifty percent of my staff are women.” When he asked me how much I expected to make, I told him I would do the job for free. He said that was the stupidest thing he’d ever heard, and I should never say that again. In desperation, when I got back to my dorm room, I did in fact take a brown paper bag and cut out letters that said, “Hire Anna Quindlen or you sleep with the fishes.” I sent it to him, and he hired me on the basis of that note.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: I was working for Al Blumenthal, who was running against Abe Beame in the ’73 mayoral race. I had been feeding negative research to various people at the Post. I believe it was Ralph Blumenfeld who said, “Why don’t you come work at the Post?” I worked in the New York City morgue for a year before politics—as an identification clerk officially, which means I took the families of the newly homicided, suicided, et cetera to see the remains and made sure we had a legal identification. I had to interview all these people who were under extreme duress, which I guess was a plus for being a new tabloid reporter. Also, I had this wonderful talent for getting people’s suicide notes for the Post to read. Not that I would do a thing like that, of course. But sometimes if things dropped into your hands on an interesting suicide, you would show it to your editor, and they’d be impressed with the quality of your work.

CAROLE LEE: I was looking for a job and I got tired of people telling me, “Oh, yeah, we’ll call you.” I knew they weren’t calling me because of the color of my skin. So I went to a Black-owned agency. That same day they sent me to the Post to interview with Jimmy Wechsler. He had interviewed eighteen people for the job, and he kept asking personnel why he hadn’t seen any minorities. He or a secretary called this Black agency, they sent me out, and I got the job. The reason I got the job wasn’t because I’m Black, by the way. It was because I liked baseball and could talk to him about sports.

JANE PERLEZ, reporter, 1972–1977: My first job as a journalist was at The Australian, which was an upmarket national daily newspaper that Rupert [Murdoch] founded in Australia—a blend of the Washington Post and The Guardian. I was straight out of university, and I worked there for three years under a very—small l—liberal editor Adrian Deamer, the most famous editor in Australia, who was against the Vietnam War. Rupert fired him in 1971, because the paper was not making as much money as he wanted, and brought in some conservative from London. Deamer was a national treasure. He was only in his forties when Rupert fired him. He went to law school and became a First Amendment lawyer at the opposing newspaper company, Fairfax. I could see what was happening, so I left and came to New York. Warren Hoge gave me a job on the New York Post.

MIKE PEARL, reporter, Manhattan Criminal Court, 1967–1998: I had worked for newspapers since 1952. I started off at the Daily Mirror. I was there for almost ten years, and they folded. I went to the Journal-American and they folded and merged with the World Telegram and the Herald Tribune. They called it the Widget. I worked there for nine months, then they went out of business in 1967. Then I came to the Post. I worked there for more than thirty years. I always felt like the Post was about to fold. I felt like I was on the Titanic.

CHARLIE CARILLO: Every time something went slightly wrong at the Post, Mike [Pearl] was convinced it was over. He’d come to me and say, “Did you see the new bathroom, Charlie? They stopped laying tile.” I’d say, “What are you talking about?” “That’s a bad sign—we’re going under.” “Mike, it’s their day off.” He was convinced he was the canary in the coal mine because he’d folded three papers. They used to call Mike the Walter B. Cooke of journalism because he just kept burying newspapers. [Cooke had funeral homes in every borough of New York.]

TONY SCHWARTZ: I ended up going out for a drink with Bob Spitzler. Bob was drinking pretty continuously. I was not that kind of drinker, but I was trying to be like Bob, who was potentially going to hire me, so I got progressively drunk. So did he. At some point during that conversation, he said to me, “We don’t have a reporter’s job, but what would you think about taking over Leonard Lyons’s column?” [Lyons, longtime Broadway gossip columnist, retired in 1974.] My first reaction was: “That’s not my ambition. I don’t know any gossip and I wouldn’t be good at it.” I felt we came to an agreement that this wasn’t something I ought to do or wanted to do. The next morning, he called and said, “Why don’t you write three sample columns?” I wrote the columns based on either stuff I made up, or more likely stuff I found and adapted in places I thought nobody at the Post would read, like the National Enquirer. Months went by. Then Bob wanted me to have a conversation with Dolly Schiff. Dolly was doddering by that time. She didn’t seem the slightest bit interested in me. I went down to Bob in the newsroom and said, “I don’t think it went very well.” The phone rang. It was Dolly and, if memory serves me, she said, “He’s cold, but smart. Hire him.” My first column was the story of my failure to find gossip in the weeks leading up to the first column. If I had had a column full of Cindy Adams or Liz Smith kind of items, I would have run them. The tone that I adopted in the first column became my voice. It was not out of intention; it was simply that doing a gossip column wasn’t possible for me. I thought it would be more of a column about being out and around in New York with those kinds of people when you’re not one of those people. Bob Spitzler liked it. But Paul Sann hated me for no apparent reason almost immediately.


Ted Poston, one of the first African American reporters to work for a major newspaper, joined the Post in the 1930s, retiring in 1972. Because Schiff’s Post over the years employed other Black reporters, and published Black columnists like Jackie Robinson and Roy Wilkins, it could be considered diverse compared to other newspapers of the era, though not according to today’s standards.



WARREN HOGE: “Diversity” was not a term bandied about in those days. Beyond Ted [Poston], the Post was not diverse at all. I mean, diversity for the Post was having Christians because it was so heavily Jewish. Part of my role was to be a sort of WASP piñata. I embraced it. I could utter things in Yiddish, and it would bring the house down because they knew my background.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: We were all copyboys. I answered to “copyboy”; I answered to “boy.” Then we got our first Black copyboy and it became “copy.” The way we were addressed didn’t change because of our gender. It changed because of the color of someone’s skin. It was an amusing little episode at the time: you weren’t treated much better as the girl than you were as the Black boy.

AIDA ALVAREZ: I do think being Hispanic was part of why they hired me. I don’t want to undermine myself. I was a good reporter. I don’t think I would have gotten the Front Page Award if I hadn’t been. [Alvarez received the award, from the Newswomen’s Club of New York, for a series on New York’s Latinos.] But I think they made an affirmative effort to hire me. When I went to interview, the first person I spoke to was Warren Hoge. He had my résumé in front of him, which showed that I had graduated from Harvard with honors in English literature. He asked me if I was having any trouble with English. The next person I talked to was Al Ellenberg. The first question out of his mouth was “Why do Puerto Ricans throw garbage out their window?” I said, “I don’t know what you’re talking about. I’ve never thrown any garbage out of my window.” So it was not exactly a friendly environment for me.

WARREN HOGE: I do not remember that. I remember very much hiring Aida and being very proud of finding her.

JOYCE WADLER: Once I was sent to the police shack [the press room at NYPD headquarters] and the direction they gave me was: if it’s above 96th Street, forget it. They were looking for rich and white, that was what was crime. That was the old Post.

AIDA ALVAREZ: One of the things that was interesting at the Post was the women were all Ivy League–type graduates. They went to Barnard, they went to Mount Holyoke, I went to Harvard. Some of the men were lucky if they had a high school degree.

LINDSY VAN GELDER: Joyce Wadler and I have had conversations over the years about how, although we totally support the #MeToo movement, our orientation back then was so different. Granted, we had [union] protection, and we were on a level playing field with everybody. I later heard that some copygirls were abused, but for us—people would say horrible sexist things to us, and we would say horrible sexist things back to them. The wiseguy quotient of the city room was your currency. I never felt remotely oppressed. The guys in that era were constantly passing notice on what we were wearing and making completely gross jokes, so we decided to turn the tables. We had a Mr. Sexy contest. All the women at the Post could vote, and [police reporter] Carl Pelleck won. I think Tony Mancini came in second. They could not deal with it. It was hilarious. They didn’t know whether to be jealous or relieved at being a sex object. Pelleck was a sexy guy. He wasn’t the best-looking, but he was sexy.

TONY MANCINI: It’s true that the women [at the Schiff Post], for the most part, didn’t push back in the sense that they said, “Leave us alone. How dare you?” They gave as well as they took.

JOYCE WADLER: Looking around the newsroom then, it was half women, and women had great assignments. You had Helen Dudar, Judy Michaelson, Joyce Purnick, Jane Perlez. There were some very competent women, and the men knew it. So if somebody was going to joke about your boobs, the women gave it right back.

LINDSY VAN GELDER: One of the reasons I went there from UPI was I knew I wanted to have kids at some point. The Post had the best maternity leave anywhere. And they had the most women on staff, they had a woman publisher.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: Lindsy Van Gelder and I led a fight that we lost as much because of the union as the management. As young mothers, we wanted to share a job and split the workweek. The union resisted that because they would lose a job, and [Schiff] resisted. A group of us went up to meet with her, and she had the audacity to say things like, “I raised children and had a job.” This was a let-them-eat-cake kind of thing. She had a governess, a chauffeur, and a cook, and we were talking about regular working women.

DICK BELSKY: One thing people forget about the early ’70s is that there were not many women covering hard, breaking news. Back then, women would be hired to work in features, or the food section, or something. The Post was one of the first papers to have a lot of really talented women doing all sorts of things, covering news, politics, everything.

JANE PERLEZ: I had the best, absolutely amazing time. I was really interested in politics and covered the 1976 primaries. I covered the coming of the Democratic convention to New York City. The New York Times didn’t cover the coming of the convention in such detail as the Post allowed me to do and I developed very good sources. At the same time, I could do literary interviews. I loved the dance. I did profiles of Mikhail Baryshnikov, Gelsey Kirkland, the whole New York City Ballet. I interviewed the artist Francis Bacon. I did everything. I loved it.

LINDSY VAN GELDER: For anybody who’s worked at a newspaper, the memos between Paul Sann and Dolly Schiff are an interesting look into the dynamic between them. In the file [at Boston University], you see Sann complaining to Dolly about me, and Dolly saying things like, “Wait a minute, you mean that women cannot be in the press box at Yankee Stadium? Why are we allowing that?” It’s kind of fun to watch her say feminist things and him get completely bent out of shape by it.


By the 1970s, the Post was one of just three New York City dailies (not counting Newsday on Long Island). Its status as the only afternoon paper presented challenges, especially for a tabloid that despite gaining tens of thousands of readers as its competition fell away, still had the lowest circulation of its rivals, approximately 500,000.



DAVID ROSENTHAL: We were running ahead of everybody in a couple of limited areas. We covered sports really well, although it was a matter of taste whether you liked the Daily News or Post sports sections; the Times didn’t even really matter. On a good local murder story, we certainly did more than credibly. And we had great second-day features [stories that expand upon the previous day’s news] on funky stuff that nobody had thought of because we had people like Joyce Wadler, Lew Grossberger, Lindsy Van Gelder, and Al Ellenberg cooking up a lot of this shit. We were constantly being used by local TV—they would rip us off blind.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: I did two series that were game changers. One was on abortion, and one was on rape. I’ll never forget that after the rape series ran, Sann stood in front of my desk and basically told me it was fabulous and really made him think about the subject. That was a lot coming from a male chauvinist pig editor. There was a lot of male bravado about Paul. That was the thing about the Post’s editors then: they read what you wrote. They were interested in what you wrote. They weren’t just thinking about whether the publisher cares, or whether some politician cares. If you did something interesting, they gave you full rein, and they trusted your instincts. You can’t ask for more than that.

ANNA QUINDLEN: We’d do a story better than the Washington Post or the Times version and there wouldn’t be any acknowledgment. But it was unequivocally a New York newspaper. It was a subway read. Half of the people on the subway would be reading the Post and the other half would be reading the Daily News.

ERIC FETTMANN: The main attraction then for Wall Street was that the Post was the only afternoon paper and it had the stock prices, particularly the Wall Street final, the closing prices.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: I was the chief guy on New York City going bankrupt in the mid-’70s. I happened to know a lot about that because of my contacts in city politics before joining the Post. I got one story after another and kept writing explanatory pieces that ended up as the wood, “Better watch out, city’s going broke,” that kind of thing. I know Mrs. Schiff and Paul Sann took a lot of heat from people in Albany—that our scare tactics were leading a lot of people to disinvest in the bond market in New York. To their credit, they let me go with it. We always felt that we were running ahead of the Times there. For a while we were kicking the shit out of them. We became a tag team, me in the city, Josh Friedman up in Albany. And George Arzt at City Hall.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: The Post covered this city in a fine-grained way that the other papers did not.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: When I was new, one of my proudest moments was when a piece I did was shown on the CBS Evening News with Walter Cronkite. According to the powers that be, it was the first time Cronkite had ever shown a front page of the New York Post and credited the paper by name. I had the first, albeit brief, interview with Patty Hearst’s mother after Patty was kidnapped. The Hearst PR guy told all the reporters who were staked out at the Hearst building on Eighth Avenue that in fact the Hearsts had left there and had gone to their suite at the Essex House. Everybody walked over—cameras didn’t go, but the pencil press went—figuring maybe they would show. We’re all sitting there in a small lobby, biding our time. The PR guy comes down and says, “They’ve got nothing to say, they’re not coming down.” Everybody packs up. Because I’m new, I’m scared shitless that if I don’t come back with something, I’m going to get fired; I was still on probation and I spent an awful lot of time on a stakeout getting nada. I went to a house phone, in the lobby or off the lobby, and called the hotel operator. I said, “Could you please connect me to the Hearsts’ room? It’s an emergency.” Something that sounded very urgent. Incredibly, she did it, and somebody answered the phone, I think it was like a maid or an assistant. I started my rap. I said my name, I know exactly what [Patty] must be feeling right now, I’m a young person, too, I know how weird things happen and so forth. I said, “I promised my editor I would get to talk with Mrs. Hearst, I’m afraid I’ll get fired.” I went through the whole thing. She said, “Hold on.” I’m on hold for about four minutes. Mrs. Hearst gets on the phone and I do my rap again. Sure enough, in what I would describe now as a clearly sedated voice because she was speaking quite slowly, she told me, and the quotes were in the piece: “I think Patty’s dead, my husband says otherwise,” or whatever the fuck she said. I’m on with her for three, four minutes. I write the quotes in my notebook, and I call the desk. I get Larry Nathanson. I said, “Larry, I got the Hearst stuff.” He said, “Come back to the office.” I said, “You don’t understand. I’ve got an interview with Mrs. Hearst.” He said, “Okay, then come back.” I said, “Nobody else got an interview with Mrs. Hearst.” He went, “How the fuck did that happen?” I tell him. He put me on hold for a second. He puts Paul Sann on, who I’ve met maybe once or twice at that point, other than, you know, waving to him in the hallway. He says, “Take me through this.” It did strike me as I was doing this: how did I know that was actually Mrs. Hearst? But then, it had to be, because the PR people never objected to it. For the second or maybe third edition, we went to the front page with it: MRS. HEARST LOSING HOPE. It was huge. It was picked up everywhere. They couldn’t fucking fire me after that.


Crime stories are one of the strands of a tabloid’s DNA, and two of the Post’s crime specialists, police reporter Carl Pelleck and night rewrite man Cy Egan, both from an earlier era of newspapering, were as hard-boiled and colorful as some of the criminals they covered.



JOE BERGER: Cy Egan was a skeletal figure—tall and thin. Not very communicative, but he wrote well. He was a real old-fashioned afternoon tabloid newspaperman. He once wrote about someone who had died, in a way that seemed as if he had interviewed the guy after his death. From what I remember, Cy indicated that the guy had either died or was murdered, then wrote that if he had lived, he would’ve said, blah blah blah. The headline was “Voice from the Grave.”

GEORGE ARZT, City Hall bureau chief, 1968–1986: One day, Carl Pelleck, me, and Rita Delfiner are having drinks in a bar, and we run into some mob guy Carl knew. I remember this guy because the lining of his coat was unbelievable. It was so colorful, greatly designed. The guy had run afoul of his crime family, and he said, “Carl, it’s goodbye.” He left. I said, “What was that about?” Carl said, “They’re gonna knock him off.” And they did. But they took care of his family. It was stunning to know that the mob really was the mob.

NICK PILEGGI, author, screenwriter, former New York magazine writer: When I was a police reporter [for the Associated Press], most police reporters were almost more cops than reporters. It was another age, before being a reporter was even thought of as a reasonable profession. Carl Pelleck, though he wasn’t that old, was from that era. Artie Rosenfeld was from that era. They were Post guys. The police reporters in those days were really good because they had such an intimate connection with the police. Back then, a lot of the reporters I worked with, they hadn’t been to college or anything. It was a blue-collar job. It was Watergate in the ’70s that really turned journalism into a kind of a fancy job. Suddenly the kind of reporter you had was socially and economically from a different class. I always felt that you lost that local connection and that was because of the unbelievable Watergate coverage. It changed the employment status of newspapers. You’d wind up getting to a scene of a crime or something, an airplane crash, and [the younger reporters] didn’t know one person there. Before, I remember going to scenes of crimes with these guys and they knew everybody. They had brothers who were detectives, for god’s sake. They weren’t covering cops and firemen as an alien culture.

JERRY CAPECI, reporter, organized crime, 1966–1986: My first big story came in 1976, when I covered the funeral of Carlo Gambino. I was still working in the police shack. I got a call and I think it was Larry Nathanson on the desk. They told me, “There’s a funeral mass in Brooklyn for Carlo Gambino, and we want you to cover it.” I put on my only suit, a three-piece suit, a corduroy suit as a matter of fact. The funeral was in Bensonhurst. It was in my old neighborhood. Mine was Gravesend, but it was Brooklyn. I knew the neighborhood. I went to a Catholic grammar school, and I went to church. I knew what the churches were all about. I get to the back, and there’s guys with big necks asking you who you’re with. They were letting people in who knew the appropriate family guys, or whatever. I was with the New York Post; I wasn’t getting in the back of [the church]. I went around to the side door and walked in. I knew my way around. I walked behind the altar into the sacristy, and I met the priest. I took my notebook out of my pocket. I told him that I was going to cover the funeral and I wanted to get the correct spelling of his name. He gave it to me. It escapes me now. He was a paisan. I wrote it in my book. I thanked him very much, and I had him walk me into the side door of the church, right by the altar. I got into the first empty seat, and I covered the funeral of Carlo Gambino. I didn’t take my notebook out. I remembered what was happening. If I took my notebook out, I knew I would get thrown out. I just watched and listened. As I’m walking out and down the steps, a TV reporter I knew says, “Jerry, you got into the church!” I said, “Yeah.” She said, “Can I put you on the news?” I said, “As long as you identify me as Jerry Capeci of the New York Post.” And that was how I became, quote, a mafia expert. Not because I knew a thing about the mafia, but because I ran around the side door, got into the church, and got into the funeral of Carlo Gambino. It was a front-page story. Which caused me a whole lot of trouble and grief. I’m Italian American, my name ends in a vowel. People at the Post wanted to know how I got in. I told them the story. Some people would say, “Come on, you knew somebody. That’s how you got in.” It became a thing.

ERIC FETTMANN: Jerry was the only reporter to get into one of the big funerals. I asked him how he did it and he said, “You know what? You know how to get into a synagogue when they’re trying to keep people out? I know how to get into a mob funeral.”


The one news subject where Schiff was willing to relax her tight fists was politics.



CLYDE HABERMAN: Mrs. Schiff could squeeze a penny until Lincoln’s face turned blue, but if she was interested in a political person—almost always guys—she was willing to spring for it. And she was interested in Carter. My last full year at the Post was 1976, in which the whole year was spent covering Jimmy Carter’s presidential campaign.

WARREN HOGE: We covered Democratic politics much more closely than Republican politics, which, in those days, were people like [US senators] Ken Keating and [Jacob] Javits. Jack Javits was a big friend of Dorothy Schiff’s. Somebody I got to know very well, too. The Republican Party was a very different animal than it is now. It wasn’t this desperate competition in which you malign the opposition and accuse them of being treasonous and betraying American values. There was a different kind of political debate in America—and between the papers also. The New York Post probably was the most liberal paper in the country, but that just meant its editorials were liberal. Its choice of subjects, the things that I covered as the Washington correspondent, tended to be things that we really cared about, like the creation of a consumer protection bureau.

ANNA QUINDLEN: At the time, the Post was a much more liberal newspaper than the Times. The first summer I worked [at the Post], I would be interviewing someone, and they would say disparagingly, “Oh, that pink newspaper.” Eventually I realized that they meant we were communist, which was terribly exciting to me.

JOYCE PURNICK: There was no problem covering politics and campaigns when Schiff was the editor in chief and publisher. I did whatever you do to cover the story and that was that. She had her political interests, but they were pretty much confined—in fact totally confined—to the editorials. I never had any intrusion or involvement by editors, directly or indirectly.

CLYDE HABERMAN: I never got a note on political coverage.


During the Schiff era, photography was not a top priority at the Post. The paper published photos, of course, but not in the same volume or size as the Daily News, which billed itself as “New York’s Picture Newspaper.” Nevertheless, the Post employed one of the city’s most vaunted tabloid photographers, Louis Liotta, who had apprenticed with legendary photojournalist Weegee. Liotta, who joined the paper in 1946, always wore his press card in the band of his fedora. Post photographers often referred to their work as “making pictures”—in some cases because they did much more than operate cameras.



JOYCE WADLER: I loved Louis. I remember going on assignment with him up Eighth Avenue as he’s yelling, “Out of my way, shit birds!”

MARSHA KRANES: Louis was very clever. He and I would be staked out on a story somewhere, and he’d cut a hole in a newspaper and have his camera lens aimed right in the middle of that hole as he waited to take his picture.

JERRY CAPECI: For the first feature story I wrote, Louis went with me to an apartment in the Bronx where we were doing a story about a building with no heat. It was a couple of days before Christmas or maybe early December, but as it turned out, it wasn’t very cold that day. But we’re doing a story about a building with no heat, so Louis had the mother and her kids get dressed up in hats and scarves and huddle around the stove, clapping their hands with a pot of boiling water. It was hot as hell in there, but he said to them, “Do you want to get the story in the paper?” He took this picture and helped me ask the questions, too. I wrote this story about this poor family that was without heat. It made the paper, and people who read the story and felt bad for them sent me checks. It was over $100—and this was 1969. I ended up bringing them to the woman.

JOYCE WADLER: Louis traveled with props in the trunk of his car, like a crucifix and a doll.

LINDSY VAN GELDER: [Photographer] Arty Pomerantz had good news judgment. If we were on a story and anything happened while I was away, making a phone call or using the bathroom, he would cover. He also made a deep impression on me one day when—I can’t remember what the assignment was, but he was taking a lot of pictures that I knew were not going to be used for the story. They were artsy pictures. They were more poetic and intellectual. He told me that that was how he kept [the Post] from completely cutting his balls off—that if he always did his best work, even if it never saw the light of day, he was going to survive.

JOYCE WADLER: Frank Leonardo was one of the best-read photographers I ever worked with. Once I went to Brooklyn to interview either the director or star of some crazy, avant-garde production. I hated every bit of it and had maybe two questions—probably, “When will it close?” and “You couldn’t make it sooner?”—but Frank jumped in and started asking questions. Usually when he did this it drove me nuts, but Frank actually knew this guy’s work and naturally, faced with an admirer, the director/star opened up. Frank saved my ass. All I had to do was sit back and take notes.


Augusta Passarella—known simply as Miss Gerry (pronounced with a hard “G”)—was both a leader of the Newspaper Guild, the union representing editorial, advertising, circulation, and other employees, and the purchasing agent for the Post, responsible for supplies and equipment. Tall and squarely built, with thick black hair, she was a formidable and powerful figure who suffered no fools. Her partner, Chuck Caruso, helped run the composing room at the Post, where the paper was put together, and was far more affable.



TONY MANCINI: I wish we had union leaders like Miss Gerry nowadays. I served on the negotiating committee for the [Newspaper] Guild with her and Chuck Caruso. They were stand-up guys from Brooklyn. They had your back. Chuck and Gerry were colleagues in the union and on the staff for many years before they became an item. It was very, very unusual. It was a flowering of their relationship, where it became romantic.

DOMINICK MARRANO, chief paginator, 1971–2008: Miss Gerry was the union rep for a long time. Once she got into a spat with… I think it was a photographer. It had something to do with a Newspaper Guild job. I forget whose office she was standing in front of, but I happened to look up and, bam, she punched this guy right in the face. She had a mouth like a truck driver, but she was a sharp, bright woman. She was kind of like everybody’s buddy-buddy fixer. You had anything wrong, you went to her, and she tried to fix it.

FRANK LoMONTE, compositor, 1966–2009: She was a wonderful lady, but she took no shit. They were breaking her balls at a Newspaper Guild meeting once, and she took a jar of Vaseline, put it on the table, and said, “If you’re going to fuck me, at least use this.”

KENNY MORAN, sportswriter, outdoor sports and skiing, 1972–2013: Chuck Caruso, who was the head of makeup [arranging articles, photos, and ads on a page prior to printing] during the day, was Jerry Capeci’s uncle. He had gotten a couple of people jobs. Jerry went to Chuck, and Chuck went to Miss Gerry. Miss Gerry is in Paul Sann’s office, and he says, “We got to find somebody else for the lobster shift. We keep losing them.” Miss Gerry says, “I got somebody looking for a job.” Sann says, “If it’s another one of your fucking guinea friends, to hell with them.” She said, “Fuck you, he’s Irish.” That’s how I got the job. My mother’s Sicilian, but what the hell?

GEORGE ARZT: Miss Gerry’s cousin was named Mike DeMarco, and he was a city councilman. I used to do the city council and congressional endorsements with Dick Montague [who worked with James Wechsler]. We’re running down a list, and we don’t endorse Mike DeMarco. At the time, we did not know he was Miss Gerry’s cousin. The next year, there was a redistricting and DeMarco is up again. We come to his name, and Dick Montague says, “We’re endorsing DeMarco.” I said, “Why?” He said, “Because last time Miss Gerry took all the furniture out of my office.”


The Post’s 210 South Street headquarters would become as much of a character in the paper’s history as some of its most colorful reporters and editors—especially after years of cigarette smoke, spilled beer, office fights, and romances seeped into its walls and battered linoleum. The East River was just yards away and traffic on the FDR Drive rumbled outside the tall windows of the six-story building. The neighborhood was a no-man’s-land, particularly in the years before South Street Seaport was developed for the tourist trade.



JOYCE WADLER: We had a very good view of the Brooklyn Bridge. Late one afternoon, I saw what looked like a guy who was going to jump, and I dragged Al Ellenberg to the window. I said, “Look! It’s a jumper!” He said, “Eh, it’s after three. Let the News have it.”

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: It was a real newsroom. There were dirty coffee cups, cigarette butts, and all kinds of crap. It was filthy. But it was a little bit like The Front Page [the 1928 play by Ben Hecht and Charles MacArthur, adapted to the screen numerous times, about hard-boiled, wisecracking police reporters]. The romance of being at a newspaper overcame the negativity about the physical space.

CHERYL BENTSEN, feature writer, 1976–1977: I vaguely remember that there was a nice ladies room at South Street, but the rest of the place was a dump. Maybe that had to do with Dorothy Schiff.

PETER TOCCO, sports makeup, 1970–2013: When people wanted to know if the presses were running, up on the fourth floor you put your hand on the wall and you could feel the vibration. As opposed to being downstairs, where it was just insane. The building would vibrate.

MYRON RUSHETZKY, head city desk assistant, 1974–1989, 1991–2013: If it was my turn to go get the edition, I used to go down early because I would not go straight to the mailroom. I liked to follow the path of the paper being printed. I would go down into stereo, where they made the plates. I would then go down into the press room to watch them put the plates on and watch the pressman press the button to start the press. As the papers came out through the sorter and cutter, and up through the conveyor system, I used to race the papers into the mailroom.

JOYCE WADLER: When I walked into 210 South Street for the first time and looked around the newsroom, I thought, I could be friends with everybody in here. There was a feeling of coming home.

TONY SCHWARTZ: I had two reactions. First, this is cool. This is the real deal. I want to be a journalist, and this is the kind of place where it really happens. The other feeling was this is pretty trashy. The typewriters looked like they were falling apart. There were coffee cups and cigarettes all over, and it was staffed by a motley crew. It didn’t look like the New York Times newsroom, where people were more dressed up and looked like they’d gone to college.

ANDY SOLTIS: The Post didn’t have TVs in the city room. Part of the reason was Mrs. Schiff thought television was a competitor with newspapers and downplayed it.

PHIL MUSHNICK, columnist, television sports, 1973–current: I used to get upset if my copy had been messed with. Ralph Blumenfeld would always sit there and look straight ahead, look over his glasses, and say [affects gravelly voice], “It’s only a tabloid. It’s only a tabloid.”

ANNA QUINDLEN: Murray Kempton used to say all the time that he remembered covering a press conference where I was wearing hot pants and platform shoes. I do not myself remember that, but Murray was a pretty reliable source.

DAVID SEIFMAN: Mel Juffe was a rewrite guy. I’m a copyboy, making whatever it is, twenty dollars, thirty dollars a night, and midnight to eight, not much is happening. I’m talking to Mel about how hard it is to live your life working midnight to eight. I ask him, “How do you go out on dates?” He was single at the time. He said, “I think I found the secret.” I said, “What’s that?” He said, “The Playboy [Club] Bunnies, they get off at four a.m.” He was dating a Playboy Bunny, and he’s giving this advice to me, a twenty-year-old, twenty-one-year-old copyboy: you’ve got to be with a Playboy Bunny because who are you going to date at nine a.m.?

AIDA ALVAREZ: Josh Friedman was the star Albany reporter covering the fiscal crisis in New York, and he was the nicest man. One day I went over to Josh, looking really upset. I said, “Al Ellenberg says I’m not going to make it. I’m not tough enough.” He said, “Do you ask hard questions?” I said I thought I was asking hard questions. He said, “Aida, look around here. You’re too polite.” I realized it was a rough-and-tumble newsroom. There were a lot of F-words flying around, right? And I thought, okay, I get it. I’m not fitting in because I’m not joining in the fun. I went back to my typewriter and it was defective. I slammed the roller really loud and I let out a big f-you. It was the beginning of my reeducation. I had gone to Catholic school for twelve years. I needed to undo that.

JERRY CAPECI: Remember spikes? When Fred McMorrow was news editor, he once put his right hand right through the fucking news spike, like Jesus Christ. It went through his hand and out the other side. That’s the legend of Fred McMorrow.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: Ralph Blumenfeld had a sideline, which he made no attempt to hide. He wrote a football and basketball betting newsletter, which went to many customers, where he would do the betting line. The amount of betting in the newsroom, at least when I was there, was extraordinary. The horse races were being run out of the composing room. Other games were being bet throughout the building, and you had various people, like Al Ellenberg and John Gruber, who were either making hundreds of dollars or getting wiped out on any given day. It was scary because people suddenly would literally not have car fare to go home because they’d lost a shitload on the eighth race at Belmont.

JOHN GRUBER, copy editor, 1971–1978, 1980–1985: There were two kinds of betting—horses and sports. I bet both for close to ten years. The wire room was right next to the news copydesk, where I worked. We could hear when the racing wire would come at around one in the afternoon. Then we’d all run in to see which horses had won. Horse bets were placed in either the mailroom or the composing room, but you had to phone in your bets on sports. There was a guy who came to the paper once a week to collect or pay out the sports bets. In my case, he mostly collected.

GEORGE ARZT: When we had the hot type, you could go back [to the composing room] and you could get bonds, you could get stocks, you could arrange for abortions when they were not legal. And there were bookies so you could place bets.


Gambling was hardly the only vice practiced at the Post. Before and after Dorothy Schiff, alcohol fueled the often outrageous, sometimes feckless antics of its seen-it-all staff. Until the late 1970s, one of the nearest, and therefore most popular, bars was Mutchie’s, which had been typecast in the 1971 film The French Connection as a seedy dive—one that Popeye Doyle (Gene Hackman) stumbles out of early one morning.



ANNA QUINDLEN: In the newspaper business back then, there were three types of people. There were raging alcoholics, there were recovering alcoholics, and there were people who didn’t really drink that much. The third group was the smallest group.

AIDA ALVAREZ: There was a lot of divorce. And there was a lot of drinking. I always felt, particularly the way we worked at the Post, where you had to constantly put out a new headline and a new headline and a new headline, you had to be addicted to an adrenaline high. You had to get your energy up each time for the next version, next version, next version, and do it all under deadline. It was pretty stressful. I mean, I enjoyed it. I was young, I enjoyed the excitement of it, but by the time you were done, at the end of the day, you really needed to drink.

KENNY MORAN: The people who came to Mutchie’s were mostly neighborhood people and Post people, especially the guys who worked in the composing room, the printers, the pressmen, the drivers. Once there was a scene, I can’t give you names, but two people at the Post—a man and a woman—were having, let’s just say, a sexual encounter on the back table, not even worrying about going into a room or anything. Right on the table. I think somebody applauded.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: We used to play pool there. And there was a tie line between Mutchie’s and the city desk. The city desk could call Mutchie’s and talk to any of us.

KENNY MORAN: Mutchie would have food brought out. He was blind. Or he had really bad eyesight. When you’d drink vodka or gin or rye, he would put the bottle in front of you and mark with a crayon how much was in the bottle. You got a bucket of ice, and you poured your own booze. When you were ready to go, he measured how much you drank in the bottle and charged you—he charged you by the inch or whatever. I remember him having food at the bar. I would never get anything out of that kitchen. It looked terrible. He would be sitting at the end and, say somebody else came in, he’d take his teeth out and put it on top of the food. I guess so no one else would eat it or touch it. That was Mutchie.


Another hangout for reporters and writers of all stripes, including Norman Mailer, Lanford Wilson, and Frank McCourt, was the Lion’s Head on Christopher Street in the West Village.



ANNA QUINDLEN: The Lion’s Head is where I learned to drink—because again, I was a twenty-year-old girl trying to fit in with these guys. I drank a lot of boilermakers just to make it seem like I was part of the crowd.

AIDA ALVAREZ: I was a few months into my quote, unquote, probation period when Al Ellenberg asked me if I wanted to go out and have a drink with him. Al was known for his drinking. We went to the Lion’s Head. We sat at the bar and Al ordered a double boilermaker. I had no idea what the heck that was, but he ordered one for me, too. I was a kid—twenty-three, twenty-four—hardly a drinker. He barely said a word. He just kept drinking. I nursed the drink until they were getting ready to close the bar. He said, “Time to go home.” I grabbed a cab. The next day or so, Jan Hodenfield came over to me and said, “Have you been out drinking with Al yet?” I said, “Actually, I just went out with Al.” Jan said, “That means you’re in.” That’s how I knew that I had passed my probation.


Mrs. Schiff cared a great deal about her appearance and craved confirmation that she was still attractive, especially to younger men. She was particularly fond of the good-looking, WASP variety. Members of her family had worked at the Post at various times, but ultimately she did not expect one of her children to take over the paper. So she regularly discussed finding the right young man to succeed her. She auditioned several, often giving them titles such as assistant to the publisher, or associate publisher.



ANNA QUINDLEN: The person who was Dorothy adjacent and loomed rather large was a guy named Billy Woodward [William Woodward III]. His family were real Park Avenue types. His father, William Woodward Jr., was an heir to the Manufacturers Hanover banking fortune and his mother was a showgirl. She shot Billy’s father because she said someone came into the apartment in the middle of the night, and she thought it was an intruder. Truman Capote fictionalized it in Answered Prayers and Dominick Dunne did the same in The Two Mrs. Grenvilles. Billy was part of Mrs. Schiff’s circle and a reporter there. Dorothy allegedly loved him, and for a while, the operative rumor in the newsroom was that Mrs. Schiff was going to sell the paper or leave the paper to Bill Woodward. He was one of the handsome young men that she was interested in, along with, by the way, Warren Hoge. When the powers that be in the newsroom thought that Bill Woodward might be taking over the paper, they decided that the way to safeguard the institution was for me to marry him. So every time Bill Woodward was in the newsroom, someone would say, “Bill, have you met Anna Quindlen?” About the fifth or sixth time, he said, “Yes, many times.” Meanwhile, I was thinking, I don’t see how this is going to work out. But they were always very concerned that somehow the paper would fall into the wrong hands. I was one idea of a backstop. It was like that all the time. There’s no rumor mill like a newsroom. If we printed the things that passed among the desks, our readership would grow exponentially.


Another attractive man, Jeffrey Potter, was Schiff’s authorized biographer. Men, Money & Magic: The Story of Dorothy Schiff, written by Potter with Schiff’s cooperation and approval, was scheduled to be published in October 1976. Long passages of the book were taken directly from interviews with Schiff, who was remarkably frank about her marriages and her affairs.



PAT SULLIVAN, reporter, night editor, 1972–1980: In those days, before the internet, everybody wanted to know what the New York Times had. Almost everybody, even overseas [media], would send people to Times Square when the Times came up, and would run it back to their offices. In one of those situations, we were working at night, and it was kind of quiet. All of a sudden the phone started ringing like crazy. It’s the London Times, it’s this paper, and that paper. Dolly had written her autobiography, and instead of leaking it to her own paper, she leaked it to the New York Times. And the Times put it on page one. Why did they put the book there? In it, she’d had sex with FDR. That was the angle. She got the publicity she wanted.

ANDY SOLTIS: The Times had a front-page story about how Dorothy Schiff had an affair with Franklin Roosevelt. This was coming from her autobiography, which was actually written by somebody else. But the book didn’t actually say that she had had an affair. It was implied, and Schiff complained and threatened to sue. Then the Times interviewed the writer of the book. It turned out that, despite the extensive interviews he did with Schiff, he never asked her whether she’d had an affair with Roosevelt. [Potter said he asked if she’d gone to bed with FDR, and she gave a coy response.] They intentionally left it vague that this was something that might have happened. [The Times altered the story in later editions to include Schiff’s denial that her friendship with FDR had been romantic.]


The publication of Schiff’s semi-autobiography and her waning attention to the details of running the Post were signs that, after years of rumors and lots of discussions with potential suitors, Schiff might actually sell the tabloid. Even those who loved working at the Post acknowledged that change was in order. In her caustic 1975 essay for Esquire, Nora Ephron stated as much and blamed Schiff for the paper’s decline.



CLYDE HABERMAN: I’m not suggesting that the era when I was at the Post was the age of Pericles. We were a tabloid with all its flaws. But stories were allowed to be somewhat longer, so it was more rewarding for writers. Rupert Murdoch’s complaint about American journalism being a little flabby was overstated, but I think the Post did get more staid and less gutsy in Dorothy Schiff’s last year or two. And it was beginning to hemorrhage money that last year. It was painfully thin compared to the Daily News, for sure, and Newsday, which was fatter than an encyclopedia back then. It was worrisome, because there were no ads. There was an air of decay.

DAVID SEIFMAN: The Post had some spectacular writers and reporters, but if you picked it up, you saw a sea of gray type; its formula hadn’t changed in decades. It needed a shot of adrenaline.

KEN CHANDLER, editor in chief, publisher, 1978–1986, 1993–2002: I did read [the Schiff Post] back then. I thought it was sleepy and boring, and it was crammed full of syndicated columns. It had a couple of good sports columnists, but it was a pretty dull product. If anybody had told me that that paper was still going to be around in the year 2021, I would’ve laughed.


Given the media industry’s obsession with gossip, it’s amazing that Schiff’s negotiations to sell the Post to Rupert Murdoch stayed secret, although a few of her most senior editors were aware something was afoot. Murdoch had achieved great success and political influence with his papers in England and Australia, but the lurid content in his London tabloid, The Sun, especially its topless “Page 3 Girls,” had earned him the nickname “the dirty digger” from the British satirical magazine Private Eye. While Post staffers debated the pros and cons of what the Post was and what it could become, Warren Hoge decided he was not going to wait around.



WARREN HOGE: Dorothy Schiff confided to me that the Post was about to lose money the next year. She was talking about 1976. She said she had always promised her banker brother, John Schiff, that if the Post was not making money, she would sell it. She said she was looking around for people who might be able to keep it going. She was telling me this in the guise of “I don’t want you to worry.” She probably said to Paul [Sann] and Bob [Spitzler], too—something like, “The three of you have a future here.” She said that one of the people she’d been talking to was Rupert Murdoch. Now, this was a name nobody had heard in New York at this point. But I had been to Australia the summer before. I had an apartment on Riverside Drive. On the walls of that apartment, I had put framed headlines from the Australian press—from Murdoch papers—which were risible and funny. And I suddenly heard Dorothy Schiff confiding in me that the man who produced that kind of journalism might buy the New York Post. I decided to take [Executive Editor] Abe Rosenthal up on his feeler about going to the New York Times. Dorothy Schiff asked me to stay for a few months, for a transition. I did, but I went to the Times in ’76.

ERIC FETTMANN: We didn’t find out until later that 1976 was the first time in almost thirty years that she ended up losing money. It’s one of the reasons she sold the paper. She lost half a million dollars and panicked. She bought the paper in ’39 and lost money for the first ten years. The peak year for newspapers in New York in general was 1949. That was the year the Post finally turned around, and it kept making a profit, though nothing really great, until 1976. We never considered the Post to be a thriving paper. We were marginally successful. We were always decrying the fact that she ran it like a mom-and-pop store and refused to invest money into it.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: There was a lot of personal whim involved in the paper. It was the subject of a lot of either chortling or complaints on our part. Whoever expected somebody to buy the paper and make her look good?


In the latter half of 1976, James Brady, a former Marine officer who’d gone to work for Rupert Murdoch after serving as the publisher of Women’s Wear Daily and as a columnist for New York magazine, dined at the World Trade Center’s Windows on the World with a group that included his boss and Murdoch’s wife, Anna. It was there that he learned of Murdoch’s next move.



JAMES BRADY, creator of Page Six, 1977; Page Six editor, 1980–1982: We were talking about Dolly Schiff, and I said, “God, there’s this new biography of [her] coming out. The Times has asked me to review it, and it’s going to kill her. It makes her seem to be a terrible person, a fool, a social climber.” Rupert called me aside at one point during the dinner and said, “I have a favor to ask of you. I’m negotiating with Dolly Schiff to buy the Post. No one knows about it. This might embarrass me if you do this. Can you possibly get out of it?” I said, “Yeah, absolutely.” It was announced sometime later that Rupert Murdoch had agreed with Dolly Schiff to buy the New York Post.






2 SID VICIOUS TAKES OVER THE PHILHARMONIC Murdoch Arrives, Mayhem Ensues


On Friday, November 19, 1976, seventy-three-year-old Dorothy Schiff announced that she had sold the New York Post to the forty-five-year-old Australian publisher Rupert Murdoch. He agreed to pay $31 million. The next day, news of the sale rated prime placement on the front page of the New York Times. Describing Murdoch as “a man of strong commitment to the spirit of independent, progressive journalism,” Schiff said she felt sure “he will carry on vigorously in the tradition I value so deeply.” The staff of her newspaper hoped their soon-to-be-former owner spoke the truth.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ, reporter, 1963–1978: Dolly Schiff was very removed from reality, whereas Murdoch is very involved in reality—trying to change it.

ERIC FETTMANN, associate editorial page editor, columnist, 1976–1991, 1993–2019: I was out of the office doing a Daily Close-up in the late morning and early afternoon. When I got back, people knew something was up. First, Jimmy Wechsler was in Paul Sann’s office talking to him. That was something that no one had seen for fifteen years. Late that morning, Bob Spitzler let out a huge shriek after he heard something on the phone but refused to talk about it. Then, when I was sitting at my desk typing up my story, a shell-shocked Barbara Yuncker [the Post’s medical and science reporter and a Newspaper Guild representative] walked into the newsroom having just returned from Dolly’s office and said, “She sold the paper.”

ANNA QUINDLEN, reporter, 1974–1977: When it was finally announced that Murdoch had bought it, the mood in the newsroom, between the time the sale was announced and the time the Aussies actually arrived, was almost identical to the mood among my friends and I between the time that Donald Trump won the election and the moment he actually took office. There were months of us saying, “Oh, come on, it’s not going to be as bad as we think. Murdoch owns some really good papers. It’ll be fine. It might even be better. He might put some money into it.”

DAVID ROSENTHAL, reporter, desk editor, 1974–1977: At first I thought, at least we’re not going to go out of business. And maybe there’ll be money to spend on train fare to New Jersey.

MARSHA KRANES, rewrite, editor, 1974–2005: The day Murdoch bought the paper, I was covering the Bronfman kidnap trial in White Plains [New York]. I usually dealt with Al Ellenberg. Toward the end of the day, I’d call and tell him what the story was. But someone was filling in for him that day. I think it was Steve Lawrence. He said, “It doesn’t matter. All we want is T and A.” I said, “What?” He said, “Murdoch bought the paper, T and A.” I said, “What’s T and A?” He goes, “Tits and ass.” I’d never heard that expression before.

DICK BELSKY, metropolitan editor, 1970–1989: On November 17, 1976, I was named city editor. I had previously been acting city editor, and in order to take this new title, I had to leave the union, because I was now considered management. Two days later, we got the announcement that Dolly Schiff had sold the paper to Rupert Murdoch. Nobody had any clue this was in the works. It had been kept completely secret. That night, I went out with about a half dozen editors, and they were all saying things like, “Murdoch will come in and fire everybody. All of us will be gone.” I’m sitting there thinking, just two days earlier, I had union protection! But I was pretty much the only one who survived. And Joe Rab.

TONY MANCINI, reporter, 1958–1978: There’s a wide-angle photo of Murdoch addressing the staff in the city room about the takeover. As I recall, it was “You’re a wonderful staff, this is a great newspaper, nothing’s going to change,” that kind of thing. He’s on one side of the photo—and I’m on the other with my arms akimbo, glaring at him. Everyone there was attentive, some skeptical, because by that time, we had done some research on his reputation. A lot of people were hopeful. They thought, “Mrs. Schiff has had her run, she’s getting on in years, we might need some new blood in here—a boost of energy.” So there was a feeling that it might be okay. We soon learned otherwise.

JOE BERGER, investigative reporter, 1971–1978: He was very convincing. People said, “Hmm, maybe he’s not going to be what we had heard”—in terms of what he had done with the San Antonio papers.


As part of the sale, Schiff continued for five years to have an office at 210 South Street, but her diminished status became clear on December 30, 1976, Murdoch’s first official day in charge.



JANE PERLEZ, reporter, 1972–1977: (from notes taken during the Murdoch transition) In the afternoon, Everette, [Schiff’s] faithful chauffeur, who had taken her around in the black-bottomed, white-topped Cadillac, was seen circling the building for a parking space. Dolly’s front space had been preempted by Rupert’s bullet gray, five times bigger though squat Cadillac. Rupert apparently went down to the cafeteria to have a BLT sandwich. He was with some of his people and paid. For the next cafeteria order, he sent Dolly’s copyboy down and didn’t pay.

CALVIN TRILLIN, staff writer, The New Yorker: What was the great [A. J.] Liebling phrase? “Freedom of the press is guaranteed only to those who own one”? The Schiff paper was known to be—in those days the right-wing cliché for the left was “knee-jerk liberal”—and all it took was some cash to change hands and it was Murdoch’s right-wing paper.

CHARLIE CARILLO, reporter, columnist, 1978–1993: Murdoch came in and said, I’m not going to change anything. Then he changed everything. It was sort of like Sid Vicious taking over the Philharmonic.

ERIC FETTMANN: Nobody had heard the name Rupert Murdoch before—except for Jane Perlez, who’s Australian. She immediately said, “I’m not going to be working here for much longer.” She was the only one who knew what Murdoch was all about. Somebody immediately called for the clips, but of course they were signed out to Dolly. [The Post’s library, the Google of its day, clipped and filed articles from numerous publications, including the Post.] We found out he was the owner of the National Star. Somebody found a copy of the latest issue. The headline was “Claudine Longet’s Love Diary.” Remember her? [Crooner] Andy Williams’s ex-wife who shot her boyfriend, skier Spider Sabich? That didn’t help. Judy Michaelson, one of the chief political reporters, sat there singing “Waltzing Matilda” to anyone who walked by.

FRANK RICH, film critic, 1975–1977: I really reflected the views of everyone—oh my god, this is fantastic. A benevolent sugar daddy has come to rescue this paper from the incredible minginess of Dolly Schiff. That was soon to be proven wrong. Jane Perlez was the first hint of that.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: Jane Perlez sat next to me in the newsroom. I thought she was going to be apoplectic. I don’t remember whether she told me, or others did, but she basically came to America to get away from Murdoch. And here he was standing right in front of us.

JANE PERLEZ: I felt very badly for my colleagues because though Rupert had a reputation, which they were not that familiar with, they felt that he was rich, he was the new man in town, and he was going to reinvigorate the paper—make it great again, to use today’s language. He wanted to make his way in New York, and he could see a perfect vehicle, for which he paid thirty-one million bucks, which was way over what the Post was worth. As soon as Murdoch walked in, I knew the game was over. But at first, I was very diplomatic, because [my colleagues] were all so excited. So, I said things like, he’s smart, he’s intelligent, he’s young. It couldn’t be worse because by that stage, the Post barely had a penny to its name. The end days of Dorothy Schiff’s Post were very sad.

DICK BELSKY: For the first edition, we’d figure out page one at five or six a.m. and we’d go to press around seven or eight. I was sitting in Paul Sann’s office the day Murdoch was supposed to take over. There were five or six of us editors there on the overnight shift. It’s dark outside, and we’re all saying, “When Rupert comes in at nine o’clock, I wonder what he’s going to do.” The door bursts open and Rupert walks in. He’s got his three lieutenants with him: Jim Brady, Neal Travis, and Peter Michelmore. Immediately Murdoch rips up the front page, and Michelmore sits next to me while I’m editing the front-page story. It was like, wow, now we see what this is going to be.


On January 3, 1977, the first wood of the Murdoch era—MOB WAR SHAPES UP OVER DRUGS—was written by Jerry Capeci. The story could have, and probably would have, also led in the Schiff era.



JERRY CAPECI, reporter, organized crime, 1966–1986: After ten years of [working for] Dolly Schiff, I had a wood about two mob bosses, Carmine Galante and Aniello Dellacroce, which I think was the first front-page story of the Murdoch-era New York Post. Which kind of cemented me with the new breed of editors that Murdoch brought in. The story was that Galante was out and about—he had gotten out of jail—and he and Dellacroce were the main contenders to be the so-called boss of bosses, the main mobster in the city of New York. As it turns out, it wasn’t the case. They were both major players, but Dellacroce got passed over and Galante ended up getting killed a couple of years later. But the story certainly got me creds, if that’s the right word, with the new editors Murdoch brought in.


Murdoch had a coterie of Australian loyalists who had been with him for years, some of whom became fixtures at the Post. Murdoch also hired a slate of new editors, including several Americans. But he did not replace the names on Schiff’s masthead. Instead, he had the new guard work alongside the old.



LINDSY VAN GELDER, feature writer, 1968–1977: The word was that Murdoch was installing doppelgängers. I can’t remember exactly the cast of characters, but there was somebody who was competing with Spitzler for his job, and somebody was competing with Sann. These people had murky duties. It was being set up as a kind of Hunger Games for editors.

ERIC FETTMANN: Editors were brought in without official titles at first, so everything got a bit complicated.

ANDY SOLTIS, rewrite, editor, 1967–2014: Murdoch went through a bunch of changes when he took over the Post. He tried things, and if it didn’t work, he tried something else. He hired several new editors. Only a couple were Australian. The thing was, they were one level of seniority ahead of the existing Dolly Schiff editors. Paul Sann had carried the title of executive editor for twenty years, and suddenly there was a new guy named Edwin Bolwell who came from Time magazine and held the title of editor. He was in charge. Our sports editor Ike Gellis had been in that job since Joe DiMaggio was on the back page, and now Jerry Lisker was on top of him. That was the case in a lot of departments.

JAMES BRADY, creator of Page Six, 1977; Page Six editor, 1980–1982: [Rupert Murdoch] ran a very thin executive suite. He was always in shirtsleeves. He was always trying to help you make up a front page or scale a picture. He knew all that stuff. He knew type sizes. He knew everything. When I went to work running the Star, he said, “Look, I only have a couple of suggestions for you: Wherever you go drinking, don’t go drinking where your reporters go drinking. That’s trouble. You’ll get into fistfights. You’ll lose their respect. You’ll get beaten up. Don’t do that.”


Dorothy Schiff had always found room in her paper for multiple gossip columnists, but as of the mid-1970s, the three men writing that sort of column for the Post were long in the tooth and the milieus they covered were changing with the times. Earl Wilson, a chronicler of New York nightlife since the 1940s, continued making his rounds of the city’s nightclubs and parties, but both Sidney Skolsky and Leonard Lyons, who’d been churning out items for even longer, retired. And Murdoch was not a fan of Tony Schwartz, who’d taken over Lyons’s column. The Post’s new owner envisioned a more dynamic and nervy gossip column, and even before he closed the deal with Schiff he tasked James Brady with its creation. Brady, who took on several roles during the nine years he worked for the Australian press lord and was eventually named vice chairman of the American arm of Murdoch’s News Corp, had been involved in the creation of two other such columns, The Eye in Women’s Wear Daily, which launched during that paper’s heyday, when Brady was publisher, and The Intelligencer in New York magazine. According to Brady, Murdoch wanted the Post’s new gossip page to be fashioned after William Hickey, a column in London written and edited by a changing cast of characters.

The Post’s new page would work on a similar premise: a group of reporters would gather and write brief, pithy stories about the powerful and famous and file them to the column’s editor, who would imbue them with a unifying voice. Murdoch wanted the column ready to roll when he officially took control of the Post, so in the final weeks of 1976 Brady set about pulling together a group of reporters and stringers to work out the kinks via a series of dummy columns.



JAMES BRADY: From the beginning there was an argument: what should we call it? It had been decided that [the column] would be anchored on page six; that after the first five pages—the front page and then four pages of hard news—we’d have this real change of pace. We’d come to page six and it would be a knockout gossip column with a cartoon. I was the one who said, “We continually talk about ‘page six.’ Let’s just call it Page Six.”

RANDY SMITH, reporter, 1977–1980: It supposedly was not just the position in the paper, but it was supposed to have echoes of a Pier Six, which was like a brawl. It’s supposed to be scrappy and brawling and kind of an upstart working-class take on [things].


Neal Travis, a New Zealand–born Murdoch acolyte, was not part of the team that put together the early versions of Page Six. He joined Brady’s special forces when they arrived at 210 South Street.



RANDY SMITH: The day came that we went down to the Post, practically like storming the building. We all piled into this car, and we go down the FDR Drive. We’re going under all these bridges—the Williamsburg, the Manhattan. We take the South Street exit, and we pull over near the Brooklyn Bridge. I was like, what is this place? We go into this odd-looking, long industrial building and up to the sixth floor, where Murdoch’s office is located. There’s this big space that was probably Dorothy Schiff’s office, but it’s kind of bare. There’s a bank of gray, industrial newsroom desks piled together—two rows of people facing each other. Neal Travis was there, Bruce Rothwell [an Australian who eventually became editorial page editor], and Peter Michelmore, who was Australian and had white hair and a saucy way of talking. Off in a corner was Murdoch’s secretary [Dot Wyndoe]. Murdoch was in the next room.

ANNA QUINDLEN: The first day the Australians were in the newsroom, Neal Travis came to me and said, “Have we got an assignment for you! We’re going to do a whole page every day of notable items, and we’re going to call it Page Six. We want you to write it.” Neal was like an overgrown leprechaun. He had this vivid quality—a kind of crazy enthusiasm for everything. He walked me through the kind of thing that he was thinking of, and then he gave me like four or five different items he had. I remember one was about Liza Minnelli, although I can’t remember specifically what. Two days later, he came to me and said, “Sweetheart, where’s the Liza item?” I said, “I haven’t been able to nail it down.” He said, “Oh, you don’t have to report it. You just have to write it.” I thought, I am screwed. It was becoming clearer day by day that what I was being asked to do was a gossip column. That was not how I saw my future unspooling, and I especially didn’t see it unspooling as a gossip columnist who didn’t confirm anything.

STEVE CUOZZO, executive editor, columnist, 1972–current: At the point that Page Six was created, gossip columns were an entirely lost art. Not only was Walter Winchell long gone, the infamous demagogue with his power, but so were the Hollywood columnists like Hedda Hopper and Louella Parsons. The only columns that were left were running on their last legs, like Earl Wilson in the Post. I think there was still some sort of a weak Ed Sullivan column in the Daily News and Liz Smith, but hers was primarily a Hollywood and celebrity column. It didn’t pretend to be a gossip column. Page Six reanimated the genre by introducing the public to the idea that gossip columns would not only be about show business and celebrities, but about the corridors of power and Wall Street and the nonprofits and the arts and a smattering of society. Another thing that made Page Six very electric at the time it came on the scene had to do with the precise circumstances of New York City then. This was 1977. The city was barely trying to recover from the near bankruptcy of 1975, when New York was in such dire straits that it had to be bailed out by the state. Morale was very low, and Page Six came along and kind of reminded people just how dynamic the city was.

MELANIE SHORIN, Page Six reporter, 1977: I got condolence notes from people at my college because my goal was to become the first female network news anchor. Somehow I ended up being a gossip columnist with Jim [Brady], which actually was so much fun and sent me on a whole new career.

STEVE CUOZZO: For some reason, when Page Six was created, it was regarded as such a secretive and dangerous mission that it was actually edited entirely on the sixth floor, which was the publisher’s floor. None of us ever saw the material. At some time, late in the day, it came down and entered the composing room, and that was it.

RANDY SMITH: I remember Murdoch saying two things about Page Six. He used the phrase “substantial stories.” He didn’t want them to be piffle. It was meant to be inside stuff, true—truly good gossip. I remember Murdoch banning the use of the word “reportedly.” You couldn’t say “reportedly.” It was either true or it wasn’t true.

ERIC FETTMANN: Brady was at Page Six and also functioning as sort of a consigliere type—introducing Murdoch to New York society, to the movers and shakers he didn’t really know. Now that Murdoch had the Post, people started coming to him. They didn’t turn their backs. But he needed a crash course in who runs the city. Jim was one of the people who guided him.


Page Six debuted on January 3, 1977, the first edition with the Murdoch stamp. The column’s lead story—about CBS chairman William Paley talking to former secretary of state Henry Kissinger about taking the reins of what was then known as the Tiffany Network—was teased at the top of the wood. On Page Six itself, a photo of the smiling Paley separated the lead story from a small item about Paul Lynde getting into an argument at an “all-male” bar called Cowboy, where, according to the column, he “defended his honor” by tossing a plate of French fries at a young ankle biter. That item featured the debut of a phrase that became part of the page’s lexicon: “Paul’s companions wanted to take the heckler outside but cooler heads prevailed.” Mentions of Jacqueline Onassis and John F. Kennedy Jr. set similar precedents.



MELANIE SHORIN: I remember following Jackie O around, hailing a cab and saying, “I only have $3.50, so follow that car as far as you can go.”


Just days after Murdoch took over the Post, he won a legal battle to purchase the New York Magazine Company, publisher of New York, the temple to New Journalism co-founded by Clay Felker; New West, its California equivalent; and the Village Voice, New York City’s alternative weekly. Felker was president, and owned about ten percent, of the New York Magazine Company, but other directors of the company sold Murdoch a controlling number of shares.



JAMES BRADY: Murdoch was avaricious for properties at that point. He was thinking, America’s the place I’m going to make my fortune. So he went for it.


Particularly distraught about the prospect of losing New York, the weekly glossy that he had founded in 1964 as a Sunday supplement in the New York Herald Tribune, Felker went to court to try to stop the sale. On January 17, 1977, an image of Murdoch as King Kong straddling the World Trade Center towers while holding copies of his newly purchased publications appeared on the cover of Time magazine. Its faux tabloid headline screamed: EXTRA!! AUSSIE PRESS LORD TERRIFIES GOTHAM.



JAMES BRADY: I was in Rupert’s office one day when Kay Graham [owner of the Washington Post] called him on behalf of Clay Felker. She said, “Rupert, do not do this to this boy. You’ll destroy this boy. You don’t know what New York magazine means to him. It’s his heart and soul.” Rupert said, “Well, Kay, I’m going to talk to Clay, too. I want him to stay with us if I get it.” He hung up and said, “She kept saying, ‘Don’t destroy this boy.’ This boy is six years older than I am.”

JANE PERLEZ: I had to cover this story, and as a reporter at the Post, also now owned by Murdoch, the spirit of revolt at New York magazine was almost impossible to convey in stories. I can recall being impressed with the determination to stand up to Murdoch and wondering how it was going to end up.

JAMES BRADY: Rupert did try to keep Clay there, and Clay said to him, “Rupert, it will never work. You’ll want to be the boss, and I’ll want to be the boss.” Rupert said later, “Clay was absolutely right.” I said, “Who the hell is going to edit it?” He said, “You are.”

ALAN PATRICOF, former chairman of the board, New York Magazine Company: Because the writers had been so vocal, Murdoch knew that they were going to walk out. He put in Jim Brady to run it virtually simultaneously with buying it. And the writers did walk out.


The most senior of Murdoch’s new hires at the Post, Australia-born Edwin “Ted” Bolwell, was a disaster from day one. His second-in-command in the Hunger Games hierarchy—Ron Martin, an American from Baltimore, who became co–managing editor with Bob Spitzler—did not fare much better. Peter Michelmore, who had worked previously for the Murdoch organization and who eventually became the Post’s metropolitan editor, proved to be one of the few editors brought in early on who earned respect from the Schiff-era staff.



FRANK RICH: Bolwell was this truculent, arrogant, surly Australian who had been at Time. I had friends at Time, and no one seemed to quite remember him.

JANE PERLEZ: Red-faced, ghastly guy. Terrible. He was a Rupert henchman. That’s what Rupert liked.

GEORGE ARZT, City Hall bureau chief, 1968–1986: Bolwell had an unbelievable temper—you’d hear him screaming and yelling—and Murdoch told me what a brilliant editor he was. I didn’t want to tell Murdoch, the guy’s nuts.

CHERYL BENTSEN, feature writer, 1976–1977: He wore platform shoes, which everybody found hilarious. I’m five eight and a half and I towered over him. He had a curly perm. The funniest thing about the Australians who were around the New York Post newsroom is they all had these silly white-man afros. This was, I guess, an Aussie look.

DAVID ROSENTHAL: At least at first, I was willing to give Murdoch the benefit of the doubt. Then I met Ted Bolwell, and I was no longer willing to give him the benefit of the doubt. He was vile, he was a crazy person. He was a fucking idiot, as were many of the people Murdoch brought in. Ron Martin’s nickname was Memo Man, because all he did all day was write memos. He wouldn’t talk to reporters or editors face-to-face; he could only write memos. You would get these two-page, single-spaced memos from him about some story that nobody gave a shit about.

DOMINICK MARRANO, chief paginator, 1971–2008: On South Street, the editors used to have offices that looked out over the highway to the East River, but their desks faced the city room. After Murdoch bought the paper, Ron Martin came in as managing editor. The most memorable thing he did was turn his desk around so that he had his back to the city room. We called him Major Major, like that character in Catch-22 who would only see people when he wasn’t in the office.

TONY MANCINI: Bolwell was a piece of work. He was lazy, and seemed interested only in going out at night, and preening around social gatherings as the new editor in chief of the paper. I thought Peter Michelmore was one of the better Fleet Street guys. He was decent. He was not underhanded. There was a lot of backstabbing in those days.

MARSHA KRANES: Basically, Bolwell’s job was to get people to leave—and he got a lot of people to leave.

GEORGE ARZT: The Schiff era was a very dull paper staffed by very good newspaper people. You had a rewrite bank with people like Helen Dudar, who was a superb reporter and writer. One day, Bolwell came over and told Helen that he didn’t like the way she wrote a story. I remember sitting there stunned, thinking, “You’re talking to Helen Dudar! Helen Dudar!” She turned around and said, “Goodbye.” I said, “Where you going?” She said, “It’s my last day.” I said, “Did you tell anybody?” “I just told you.”

CLYDE HABERMAN, reporter, 1966–1977: I left the Post the first week, at most the second week of 1977, and went back to the Times. When I told Paul Sann I was leaving, he was hurt. He said, “So you’re going to MetLife.” He always called the Times MetLife. He saw it as nothing but an insurance company with a bunch of drudges sitting at desks.

FRANK RICH: Bolwell brought in a new [managing] editor. I don’t remember his name, Ron something. He was American. He called a meeting of a couple dozen writers and editors. I remember it vividly because it was the day that Annie Hall opened. This new editor said a bunch of bland things and then, “From now on, when we are writing our reviews and features, we want to be sure to keep our advertisers in mind,” which I read immediately—and I think correctly—as, we don’t want to write reviews that might drive advertisers away. I was out of there shortly after that.

ANNA QUINDLEN: While we were all bucking each other up that [Murdoch’s acquisition] was not going to be as disastrous as we thought, I was in a weird position. Warren [Hoge] had already left the Post and gone to the Times, and the Times was trying to meet the terms of a class action suit that it had settled with the women at the paper. One of the terms of the suit was that they were supposed to hire a whole lot more women. Warren had said to the various senior editors there, “You should talk to Anna Quindlen at the Post.” I was in the middle of conversations with the Times, which are glacially slow, at the time that Murdoch bought the paper. When his people took over, I still hadn’t had the big interview with [Times executive editor] Abe Rosenthal.


Ted Bolwell delivered lectures on beginning stories in a snappier way; slower, feature-style ledes—something the Post had been known for—were out. For many, the change was shocking.



DAVID ROSENTHAL: What we all learned that first year was we didn’t understand the meaning of tabloid newspaper. The tabloids Murdoch and the rest of his crowd had been running in London and Australia were the 1930s, 1920s [Hearst-style] tabloids—not like the Daily News or the Post or Newsday or the Chicago Sun-Times. The Post was a responsible newspaper. It had some good political coverage; it had some thoughtful opinion people. We had a movie critic; we had a classical music critic. Some of them might have been burnout cases, but we had them, and there was some care put into it. Suddenly, the paper was like nothing I had seen.

FRANK RICH: The Post under Schiff and her editors really did have airs and a slightly literary bent—and that was all being thrown out the window. Copy was being butchered. There was a kind of Hitler marching into Poland atmosphere.

MARSHA KRANES: Everything became much shorter. The whole philosophy of planning the paper changed. It was a writers’ paper when I arrived. As much as you wrote usually got in—they found the space. But when Murdoch came in, they planned the space and you had to write to fit. If you didn’t, the story was cut to fit the space. We were used to writing fully developed stories.

BILL BIGELOW, city desk assistant, 1975–1979: In ’75, I’m working in the city room, controlling the flow of reporters to editors. We’re all smoking cigarettes like crazy and tossing them on the linoleum floor, where they would burn out. People were hungover, but it was a raucous, very intelligent, fun crowd. There was a bad snowstorm, and Bob Spitzler, the managing editor, turns to Ralph Blumenfeld, who was a rewrite guy, and says, “Is this a blizzard?” It was a hell of a storm. You could barely see. But it turns out that there are three conditions that have to be met for a snowstorm to be considered a blizzard by the National Weather Service. You have to have wind gusts of thirty-five miles an hour, visibility has to be less than a quarter of a mile due to snow, and those conditions have to persist for three hours or more. Blumenfeld and Spitzler are going back and forth. Blumenfeld is on the phone with the National Weather Service, and Spitzler’s yelling, “We don’t have confirmation for the thirty-five-mile-an-hour wind gust.” Finally, Blumenfeld says, “It was thirty-seven miles an hour at La Guardia.” “Great! Print it.” The wood was a photograph of Times Square covered in snow and a one-word wood, BLIZZARD!, with an exclamation point. Cut to maybe a couple of years later, and there’s another snowstorm. It’s not a terrible storm. It’s just a storm, and Peter Michelmore turns to Ralph Blumenfeld, and goes, “I want you to do a story on the blizzard outside.” Blumenfeld says, “That’s not a blizzard. There are conditions that need to be met.” He tells him the three conditions. Michelmore says, “Come here, Ralph.” He takes him over to the window, then points out the window at the East River and goes, “See out there? That’s a goddamned blizzard. Write it.” We print the story. It’s a blizzard because the Australian said it was a blizzard. What that led to was a very cavalier sense of what the truth is and what you could publish.

CHERYL BENTSEN: It was total trauma from day one—just the shits. And there was this article in Newsweek where Bolwell said he despised the preening feature writers who were going after some artistic effect. He disparaged all these incredible feature writers who went on to have great careers.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: I had a major exposé almost ready to go about one of the museums in the city. It was killed because they insisted I tell them who my sources were. I refused. Paul Sann and Bob Spitzler might have asked questions about the sources, just to make sure they were reliable, but they would never ask for names. That’s a cardinal sin in journalism. Murdoch did a very good job of befriending the right people when he came to New York, and one of the key offenders in my story was now a friend of his. That was the end of it.

JOYCE WADLER, feature writer, 1974–1977: I remember sitting in the stairwell crying, talking to Bob Spitzler because I felt they had ruined the paper. I was very happy until Murdoch came in. I could see that the stuff I held dear, which was respect for writers, respect for facts, was going. They were chopping up stories and rewriting them, and they were uglifying the universe.

ERIC FETTMANN: I signed a petition against Paul Rigby [Australian cartoonist heavily hyped by Murdoch whose work became a fixture on Page Six]. He had done a cartoon showing a scene in the jungle with your stereotypical white hunter in full Safari outfit. The hunter comes across a group of Black Africans with pointed hair and the Ubangi lips, right? Actually, it was two hunters, one saying something like: “It’s the Haleys. They’re doing some family research.” This is at the time when [the adaptation of Alex Haley’s novel] Roots was on TV and was a huge sensation. We all got incensed. We were sensitive snowflakes before people knew from sensitive snowflakes and we signed a petition protesting this blatantly stereotypical racial image.

DICK BELSKY: British journalism standards are a lot different from American standards. They just are. But there’s a difference between a story that’s made up and a story that is pushed to the limits—and I do remember a lot of stories that we pushed. We pushed them during both regimes, but in different ways. There’s this classic feeling that the Post was a very serious, important paper, and then Murdoch came over and turned it into this sensationalistic rag. It’s just not that simple. There are a lot of gray areas there. At the Post, in the early ’70s, there was a police reporter, who, if there was a murder, might call a cop and say, “What’s going on?” The cop might say, “We don’t have any leads.” The reporter would say, “Are you ruling out a gay angle?” The cop would say, “We don’t rule out anything. We’re still investigating everything.” Then the guy would write a lede, like “Police are investigating a potential gay angle.”

AIDA ALVAREZ, reporter, 1973–1977: Before Murdoch took over, we had a fair amount of diversity in the newsroom—not Black or Hispanic, but [other nationalities and women]. Suddenly, there were all these Australian guys parading around the office. It was clear to me that they had contempt for the city. I had never in my life given a second thought to Australians, because they were never part of my neighborhood, my life, or my education. Suddenly, it was like a foreign country had invaded.

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: The first month, they didn’t know their asses from their elbows.

CLYDE HABERMAN: In that first year after Murdoch took over the Post, it was almost as if he was standing at the arrival gate of every Qantas flight, handing out green cards. These guys were reporting on New York with a very alien ear. I vividly remember one of those standard crime-running-amok stories out of Brooklyn, maybe Flatbush, and there was a woman with a stereotypically Jewish name—something like Sadie Moskowitz—saying, “I’m afraid to even go out in the evening to the corner kiosk to buy a newspaper.” Have you ever known a New Yorker who bought a newspaper at a kiosk? Did you ever know a mum—in a headline—who killed three tots? Tots, yes, but mum—no. Did you ever know of a mafioso who was found dead in the boot of a car?

ROBERTA BRANDES GRATZ: It was quite amusing. We had to tell them to de-Australianize the language—we don’t take lifts, we take elevators.

ERIC FETTMANN: At one point, somebody actually had to put together a guide for the alien copy editor that translated Britishisms into Americanisms.

JANE PERLEZ: Looking back on it, I feel so badly because I think many of my colleagues really thought that the Post would become a better version of what it had been—that it would be rejuvenated. But Murdoch had such a supercilious view of American journalists. He thought American journalists were effete, wordy, beat around the bush, didn’t know what sold newspapers. I think he thought the New York Post was the epitome of that. It was basically his mission to clean the place out of the people who had been there. And he succeeded.


In remaking the Post, Murdoch had imported a stark tabloid template that worked in Britain and Australia. It was a formula that hastened the exit of Schiff-era staffers and others crucial to the paper’s sense of itself.



ERIC FETTMANN: Murdoch made a miscalculation. He thought he would be able to do what had been successful in Britain but had never been done here: build a paper that was successful solely on mass circulation without the need to be dependent on advertising. Something like his papers in London, The Sun or News of the World, with a four or five million circulation.

KEN CHANDLER, editor in chief, publisher, 1978–1986, 1993–2002: I don’t have any inside knowledge about Rupert’s original plan, but it sounds pretty plausible.

ERIC FETTMANN: To get that audience, he wanted to replicate the old Daily News formula. He wanted to get that white middle-class Irish and Italian Catholic readership. What he didn’t understand—because he didn’t know the city—is that that readership had largely left the city for Long Island and New Jersey. At that point, the Daily News was increasingly becoming the working-class paper, which meant Black and Hispanic readers. Murdoch’s formula of high crime and sensationalism, and the paper’s increasingly conservative bent, scared away the middle-class Jewish readership that was the base of the Post circulation. He did not understand that that was precisely the readership that the department stores—which were the bread and butter of newspaper advertising—wanted.

JANE PERLEZ: (from notes taken during the Murdoch transition) Yesterday Rupert stopped by my desk. He talks about changes at the Post not being enough yet. I say we need to keep our credibility. He says yes, “but not our dullness.”… Spitzler came in late. He looks like he takes a bottle of Valium a day.


One of the first departures stunned Schiff-era staffers: Executive Editor Paul Sann, a forty-year veteran of the Post, whose resignation was announced on February 1, a month into the Murdoch regime.



DICK BELSKY: The thing that pushed Sann over the edge was [Freddie] Prinze’s suicide. He was a New Yorker apart from everything else, and it was a great story. Sann threw himself into it, and [“CHICO” STAR TRIES SUICIDE] was the wood for the early editions [on January 28, 1977]. But at some point during the day, Ted Bolwell came out to the city desk and started talking about putting something else on page one. I don’t remember what, but it was no comparison to the Prinze story. I was on the desk and called Sann over: “You know Bolwell said we have to take Freddie Prinze off page one.” Sann went nuts. He had this confrontation with Bolwell in his office, and when he came back out, he said, “Keep Freddie Prinze on page one.” Very soon after, I think it was the next morning, Paul was in the composing room, and he said, “I want you to know that I’m leaving, I’m retiring.” I said, “Why?” He said, “The Freddie Prinze thing, I won that battle, but I won’t win the next one.” At one point, he said, “Here I am on the phone with circulation, telling them to up the press run, because we’re selling so many papers, and this guy wants to take it off page one.” He was so frustrated. It wasn’t that Bolwell didn’t like the story. My guess is that he didn’t understand why it was such a big deal. Or maybe he wanted to show his authority. Who knows?

ERIC FETTMANN: The irony was that Paul was one of the great tabloid reporters and editors, and he could have fit in very well with the Murdoch people.

TONY MANCINI: I don’t think he could have worked long-term at the Murdoch Post. He tried for a while, but fundamentally, Sann had an ethical side. He would not go as far as they would want him to go.

JANE PERLEZ: (from notes taken during the Murdoch transition) Bolwell left at around 8:30—complaining of laryngitis and nausea. After lunch we learned his doctor put him in Stamford [Connecticut] hospital where he’ll be for the rest of the week. Everybody is hoping for the worst.
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